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Organization Overview

We are investing in a future
where you can be confident that
all technical systems are safe.
Who We Are

What We Do

BC Safety Authority is an independent, self-funded
organization mandated to oversee the safe
installation and operation of technical systems and
equipment. In addition to issuing permits, licences
and certificates, we work with industry to reduce
safety risks through assessment, enforcement,
research and education.

BC Safety Authority (BCSA) delivers safety services
across the following technologies in the province:

Our Vision

• Elevating devices, such as elevators and
escalators

Safe technical systems. Everywhere.

• Railways, including commuter rail

Our Mission

• Passenger ropeways, such as aerial trams
and ski lifts

We build your confidence in safety
systems for life – through a focus on
risk and support for innovation.

4
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• Electrical equipment and systems
• Boilers, pressure vessels and refrigeration
systems
• Natural gas and propane appliances and
systems, including hydrogen

• Amusement devices
• Complex and integrated technical systems
involving several technologies

Investing
in Your
Future

Our Services
In order to promote accident prevention, our
services include:
• Assessing technical work and equipment,
including collecting information through
inspection, incident investigation and registering
new equipment and designs.
• Certifying individuals and licensing contractors
and operators to perform regulated work.
• Supporting clients in the development of
alternative safety approaches, and auditing their
safety management plans or equivalent standards
approaches.
• Taking enforcement actions that promote an
equitable safety system where all participants are
compliant with regulations.
• Educating our clients and the public about
technical safety to better control risks.
• Conducting research, including contributing to
provincial and national code development and
updating regulations for the technologies we serve.

In 2012, we created a 10-Year Strategy to build
confidence in the safety system by focusing on risk
while supporting innovation. Our Strategy is an
enhancement to the Accident Prevention Model
which has been the cornerstone of our safety
services for several years.
Our long-term strategy aims to build a deeper
understanding and management of safety risks. It
outlines ways for everyone – clients, stakeholders,
employees and the public – to proactively approach
safety. Our services will support clients participating
in the safety system. Our employees will provide the
knowledge base to develop and deliver a wide
variety of safety services. In the long run, we will
optimize all our resources to become a more
sustainable organization capable of providing world
class safety system expertise and influence.
The research used to develop our 10-Year Strategy also
supported our Business Plan 2012 – 2014, which
emphasized the development of tighter, more outcomefocused performance measures. Throughout 2012, we
tracked previously established measures, such as high
risk physical inspection rates and financial performance,
while also reassessing and re-aligning these measures
with our long-term strategy. The Report on Performance
section of this annual report summarizes our work in
2012, using these re-aligned performance measures.
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Message from the Chair

This Annual Report looks back at what BC Safety
Authority accomplished in 2012 and how we are
building a stronger safety system.
In 2012, the Board of Directors and the Executive
Team created a long-term vision for technical
systems safety in the province. To guide us through
the coming decade we developed a comprehensive
10-Year Strategy that will build further confidence in
the safety system, continue our focus on risk
management, and support innovation in the
technologies we oversee. We will realize our strategy
by encouraging greater collaboration and
participation from our clients, stakeholders, industry
and government.
As part of this process, we will continue to build on
our accident prevention model, steering the safety
system to become more adaptable and selfreinforcing. We will also continue to develop new and
more valued safety services and deliver these to a
broader, more diverse client base. Increasingly, we
will look to our employees to build a culture that
enhances expertise, skill diversity, innovation and
knowledge; and we will manage our resources to
remain sustainable in the face of economic shifts.
I am optimistic that our 10-Year Strategy will yield
better safety outcomes, support our clients’ success,
improve our use of internal expertise and contribute
to a more sustainable organization. The Board of
Directors and the Executive Team are committed to

8
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continuous improvement and we are confident that
our employees are up to the task.
I invite you to read our 10-Year Strategy to find out
more and I welcome any comments you have. I offer
my thanks to the clients and stakeholders who
collaborate with us to maintain the integrity of our
safety system. I also extend my deep admiration to
my co-directors for their guidance and direction, to
the Executive Team for their astute management, and
to our employees for their unwavering dedication and
hard work in keeping our province safe.

Peter Cook
Chair of the Board

Message from the President
and Chief Executive Officer

In all our efforts throughout 2012, we worked from
our values: simplicity, accountability and authenticity.
As we look towards a safer, more connected future
we will continue to evaluate our approach to safety
influence according to these principles.
The year 2012 was marked by a high level of activity
that was purposeful and intense. We continued to
shift our risk management focus from correction to
prevention, as we set out to transform BC Safety
Authority into a comprehensive, knowledge-based
organization. That way, we will have current and
relevant information to support our clients in the
safety system.
We aligned our resources and efforts with programs
and projects that build connection with clients and
enhance the safety system. Some of these included:
• The promotion of Alternative Safety Approaches
which identified and engaged safety-focused
clients capable of shifting from prescriptive
regulation to a more comprehensive system.
Clients expressed strong interest in both safety
management plans and equivalent standards
agreements.
• We made significant progress in our IT Business
System Replacement project that will give clients
access to new online services while allowing our
research and technical teams to better collect, extract
and manage safety data.

• We successfully consulted with our stakeholders on
the implementation of a three year fee increase and
fee restructuring; balancing our need for fiscal
sustainability with our clients’ need for a fair and
equitable fee structure.
• We continued to develop new and enhanced
metrics that will enable us to quantify crucial
elements of the safety system, such as unsafe
conditions in physical assessments, high risk
physical inspection sample rates, client
satisfaction and our own employee engagement.
But there was no other endeavor that drew together
the collective capacities of our organization more
than the investigations into the tragic sawmill
incidents in northern BC. We conducted thorough
investigations to assess the installation and
operation of regulated technical equipment and what
role this equipment may have played in the
explosions or subsequent fires. We put forward
recommendations to help prevent the recurrence of
similar incidents and initiated improvements in our
clients’ knowledge and management of safety risks
related to these two tragedies.
I look forward to pursuing our 10-Year Strategy as we
strive toward achieving our vision: Safe technical
systems. Everywhere.

Catherine Roome, P.Eng.
President and Chief Executive Officer
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Introduction

In keeping with our 10-Year Strategy, the 2012
Report on Performance is structured according to
our strategic goals that serve as a framework for
our overall objective of promoting safe technical
systems. These are:
• Safety
• Clients
• People
• Sustainability
The tables and discussion that follow for each of the
above goals summarize our progress in 2012, based
on year-end reporting. The strategies highlighted are
those that contributed significantly to the
measurement ratings reflecting our stated goals. The
targets and results have been audited.
BC Safety Authority also issues a yearly State of
Safety Report which presents a more comprehensive
overview of our efforts in 2012 towards our safety
goal – to advance the understanding of safety risks
and to develop the best ways to manage them.
Our field operations provide us with an opportunity to
witness, assess and learn from safety risks evident in
the province. The State of Safety Report is one tool
that BC Safety Authority uses to share its safety risk
knowledge and provide risk data for the information
of others. In 2012 we continued to exercise our value
of authenticity and our commitment to sharing data
by adding the publication of select incident details
reported to BC Safety Authority.

The safety risk knowledge gained from field
operations also informs many other BC Safety
Authority initiatives aimed at developing the best
ways to manage these risks. The State of Safety
Report also details risk management actions taken
through our many programs. For example, through
our Stakeholder Engagement Program we are
working with the Safety Standards Administrators’
Group to develop technology to track and share
information on incidents, poorly performing
contractors, and enforcement actions. Through our
Education Program we regularly engaged with
licence and certificate holders to provide information
about hazards, best practices, industry regulation
and standard changes. These engagements are
known as Tech Talks in the gas and electrical sector
and town hall meetings in Railways. We issued 13
directives to clarify or provide new interpretations of
a regulation or code. We also issued nine safety
orders meant to prevent or reduce the risk of
personal injury or property damage.
Other significant actions occurred in enforcement,
licensing and certification, regulatory instruments,
code and standard development, communication,
and our Alternative Safety Approaches Program. Our
State of Safety Report can be reviewed in its entirety
at www.safetyauthority.ca/about/publications.
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Report on Performance

Strategic Goal 1: Safety

To advance the understanding of safety risks and
to develop the best ways to manage them.

Measurable Targets

Results

Establish “Unsafe Conditions Found per
Physical Assessment” as a measure

Process established and documented

Achieve a 20% physical inspection sample
rate of electrical and gas contractor
installations

Achieved a 17.7% physical inspection
sample rate for electrical and 20.2% for gas
contractor installations

(Number of physically inspected permits / total number of
permits with at least one contractor work declaration)

Achieve a 59% high risk physical inspection
rate of electrical and gas contractor
installations
(Number of high risk physical inspections performed / total
number of high risk contractor work declarations)

12
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Achieved a 68.5% high risk physical
inspection rate for electrical and 68.4% for
gas contractor installations

Report on Performance

Strategic Goal 1: Safety

BC Safety Authority’s main objectives are to build
confidence and support innovation in the safety
system, while focusing on risk reduction. During
2012, our Technical Programs team worked to
establish a measure of “Unsafe Conditions Found
per Physical Assessment” that can be used to
validate our success in meeting these objectives. We
achieved our target in 2012, and for 2013 we will
expand upon this measure to include safety officer
training to boost consistency of risk evaluations,
reports to document unsafe conditions found, and
follow-up actions to minimize found safety risks.
In order to assess a wide range of installation work in
our two biggest technologies, we set a target to
conduct a 20% physical inspection sample rate of
electrical and gas contractor installations. We
considered this to be a reasonable first target to
encourage appropriate safety behaviour and help us
understand the inherent risks of installations across
the province. We delivered a 17.7% sample rate for
electrical and 20.2% for gas. This is in addition to a
nearly 100% sample rate for homeowner-performed
work in these two technologies. The electrical sample
rate was negatively impacted by unforeseen events,
such as the two sawmill explosions and subsequent
Electrical Safety Orders. This diverted some safety
officer attention from contractor installations to wood
processing facility operating permits.

Likewise, we set a target to conduct a 59% high risk
physical inspection rate of electrical and gas
contractor installations as determined by our Risk
Assessment Process. This target reflected our focus
on providing more oversight to high risk installations.
For high risk installations, we achieved a 68.5%
inspection rate for electrical and a 68.4% rate for gas.
In addition to the work outlined above, we also
maintained the Targeted Incident Reduction Program
focused on the gas technology. This public education
program, started in 2011, was developed to share
information and increase awareness on carbon
monoxide poisoning. In 2012, the program ventured
into the use of social media by purchasing ad space
on a popular social media utility site.
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Report on Performance

Strategic Goal 2: Clients

To contribute to our clients’ success by providing
valued services that attach clients to the safety
system and drive higher safety performance.
Measurable Targets

Results

Improve on the 2012 first quarter results of
11.5% dropped calls in the contact centre

Improved to 6.6% dropped calls

(Refers to the percentage of clients who hang up prior to
speaking with a client service representative)

Improve on the 2012 first quarter results of 1
minute 35 seconds average waiting time in
the contact centre

Improved to 55 seconds average waiting time

(Refers to the time clients wait on hold to speak with a client
service representative)

14

Improve on the first quarter 2012 turnaround
time for design registration
• 48 days for boilers, pressure vessels and
refrigeration
• 30 days for gas
• 17.6 days for elevating devices

Improved to 32 days turnaround time for
boilers, pressure vessels and refrigeration;
and to 11 days for gas

Improve on the 2012 third quarter turnaround
time for certification (exam results)
• 13.21 days for boilers, pressure vessels
and refrigeration
• 6.38 days for electrical
• 0.11 days for elevating devices
• 9.45 days for gas

Improvements made in all technologies
• 11.72 days for boilers, pressure vessels
and refrigeration
• 3.96 days for electrical
• 0.0 days for elevating devices
• 6.53 days for gas

Establish a practice of conducting targeted
client feedback surveys

Third party provider selected; survey content
and design finalized

British Columbia Safety Authority | Annual Report 2012

Registered 19.3 days turnaround time for
elevating devices

Report on Performance

Strategic Goal 2: Clients

2012 was a year of transition towards an increased
focus on clients, recognizing that our clients are on
the front lines to deliver technical systems safety. We
recognize that our clients and stakeholders have
widely diverse needs which require equally diverse
services. Top quality client service was an important
metric across all areas of delivery. This focus
supported our belief that safety is a shared
responsibility. By providing value to our clients, we
believe we can improve and increase their
participation in the safety system.
At the start of the year, we were experiencing an
11.5% rate of dropped or abandoned calls to our toll
free number, far above industry standards of 5% 8%. This was the result of a 1 minute 35 seconds
average wait time. We addressed this issue by
reallocating resources in our contact centre and
adding a voice message option for clients, resulting
in a reduced 6.6% dropped calls rate and 55
seconds average wait time by year end.

enable clients to conduct transactions online, by
telephone or in person, and receive consistent
service levels across all channels.
We made considerable improvements in turning
around design registrations for gas, boilers, pressure
vessels and refrigeration; as well as turnaround time
for certification. This was entirely due to staff efforts
to proactively provide more efficient service to clients.
A vital component to providing top quality client
service is gathering feedback on how we are doing.
We initially intended to conduct client feedback
surveys in 2012, but opted instead to more
thoroughly develop and plan our survey implementation
and data analysis practices. A third party service
provider has been identified to ensure independent
data analysis as we work toward more frequent client
surveys in 2013.

Looking ahead, our new IT business system, which
provides an online service channel, will be
complemented by an expanded contact centre
located at our New Westminster corporate office.
Upgraded telecommunication facilities and a larger
team of client service representatives will contribute
to greater client service through reduced wait times.
The contact centre, along with our new online
channel and our existing province-wide offices, will

British Columbia Safety Authority | Annual Report 2012
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Report on Performance

Strategic Goal 3: People

To have a courageous culture where employees
build and deliver the safety services for the future.

16

Measurable Targets

Results

ENGAGEMENT
Conduct three targeted employee surveys

Conducted one employee survey

Improve on an absenteeism rate of 6 days
per year per full time employee

Achieved an absenteeism rate of 5.09 days
per full time employee

PERFORMANCE
Achieve a 100% submission of employees’
Performance Planning and Review plans

Achieved a 91% submission of employees’
Performance Planning and Review plans

Improve on a baseline of 36 reported
occupational health and safety incidents

Received 37 reports of occupational health
and safety incidents

Establish "Development Plans Completed
per Employee" as a measure for future use

Established a baseline for submission of
“Development Plans Completed per
Employee” for 2013
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Report on Performance

Strategic Goal 3: People

We have always valued the contributions of our
employees and we continue to acknowledge their
ongoing commitment to build and deliver safety
services for the communities of BC. To ensure that
every member of our organization is aligned with our
long term goals and objectives, we have started to
develop tools that will help measure both engagement
and performance. An employee engagement survey
was conducted during the late summer and early fall,
which showed that employee engagement had
declined from 2011. Responses indicated that
employees still maintained a strong sense of
contribution to and connection with the
organization’s business, but that this had lessened
over the past year. In response, the executive team
and leaders, together with employees, are now
looking at ways to improve leadership communications,
specifically around providing more direction and
feedback. Bargaining a new collective agreement for
our unionized employees was ongoing for approximately
nine months in 2012. Even though the length of the
collective agreement process may have increased
the level of general uncertainty compared to other
years, employees demonstrated commitment to
safety and our clients.

Part of our 10-Year Strategy is to build a courageous
culture so that employees build the business of the
future. To support this goal, all employees participate
in the Performance Planning and Review process in
order to align their professional activities with the
organization’s strategy, goals and objectives. This
process has proven useful in managing both
individual and departmental priorities. It also
identifies each employee’s objectives, competencies
and development activities. In 2013, we will work
towards the completion of development plans for
every employee in the organization.
As a safety organization, we take Occupational
Health and Safety (OHS) issues into consideration as
we look at our overall performance. While the
number of OHS incidents reported in 2012 was
higher than in 2011, this is likely a direct result of
better reporting practices and a more comprehensive
capture of data. A specific area of OHS focus in 2012
was the fleet vehicle safety program, which resulted
in a 35% drop in at-fault vehicle incidents and also
led to improved reporting of vehicle safety concerns.
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Report on Performance

Strategic Goal 4: Sustainability

To optimize human, financial and relationship
capital, and to anticipate and adapt to changes in
our marketplace.
Measurable Targets

Results

Improve on a 35.9% contribution margin

Achieved a 37.2% contribution margin

(Revenue after direct expenses divided by revenue. Direct
expenses are any expense directly associated with
generating revenue from the external client such as safety
officers’ salaries and benefits, regional and field office rent
and vehicle maintenance.)

Improve on a 36.8% overhead ratio
(Indirect expenses divided by revenue. Indirect expenses are
any expense not directly associated with generating revenue
from the external client, such as accounting services, human
resources and other corporate services.)

18
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Achieved a 36.2% overhead ratio

Report on Performance

Strategic Goal 4: Sustainability

Consistent with our vision, “Safe technical systems.
Everywhere.”, we want to maintain a progressive and
robust safety system for British Columbia. As a selffunded organization, this means monitoring the
sustainability of our business. We developed
measures to assess our performance in serving our
clients, particularly around permitting, assessment
and certification activities since these are substantial
sources of our revenue. Two of the measures
introduced in 2012 were contribution margin and
overhead ratio. The first of these shows the
proportion of revenue remaining after serving the
external client, and the second shows the proportion
of our spending for depreciation and serving the
internal client. If these two amounts are equal we
have operated at neither a surplus nor a deficit. We
used our 2012 budget to establish a target of 35.9%
for our contribution margin and a target of 36.8% for
overhead ratio.
By exercising strict control over discretionary costs,
our overhead spending and ratio fell below what we
had budgeted, and our contribution margin came in
higher than expected. These were positive results
given lower than expected revenues and $218,000
(net of staff salaries and benefits) in unanticipated
expenditures to support investigations into two fatal
sawmill incidents. Overall, we achieved a 37.2%
contribution margin and 36.2% overhead ratio.
Using these metrics to remain sustainable also
sharpened our business acumen. We invested more
in the Alternative Safety Approaches (ASA) Program
which added $784,000 to BC Safety Authority’s 2012
revenues. This was primarily due to improvements in

our processes related to documenting clients’ assets
that should be included in the safety system.
Revenue of $300,000 was acquired through our bulk
loading tool for pressure vessels. By the end of the
year, 11 clients expressed interest in safety
management plans as part of the Alternative Safety
Approaches Program and 28 expressed interest in
our equivalent standards agreement service.
BC Safety Authority also launched a province-wide
Electrical Operating Permits Program to encourage
new and existing clients to acquire operating permits
where required. This resulted in nearly 1,000 new
permits and $173,000 in revenue.
In the first part of 2012 we successfully consulted
with our stakeholders and implemented a three year
fee increase, after four years of holding our fees
steady. Further stakeholder consultation later in the
year resulted in a comprehensive restructuring and
simplification of our fee schedules for the electrical
and elevating technologies.
Phase 2 of our IT Business System Replacement
project remained on track to go-live in spring of
2013. The new system will give clients the ability to
access a wide range of our services online. It will
also help us better manage and share our data so we
can turn information into knowledge that enhances
and more efficiently sustains BC’s safety system over
the long term.
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Corporate Governance

The Role of the Board
The members of the Board of Directors are the
stewards of BC Safety Authority. They have the
fiduciary responsibility of overseeing the conduct of
the business and ensuring that all major issues
affecting the business and affairs of the organization
are given proper consideration. In performing its
functions, the Board also considers the legitimate
interests of industry, communities and government.

Basic Qualifications
Members of the Board of BC Safety Authority must
meet the basic requirements established in the
Safety Authority Act. As well, all appointments to the
Board of BC Safety Authority must comply with the
provisions related to qualifications for directors and
conflicts contained in the Safety Authority Act and in
BC Safety Authority’s Code of Ethical Conduct.

Director Selection
Section 8 of the Safety Authority Act provides that
the Board will consist of at least nine but not more
than 15 members. The Minister may appoint up to
three directors. The remaining directors are appointed
by the sitting directors. Non-government candidates
for the Board are screened and short-listed by a
nominating committee based on the knowledge,
skills and abilities of the candidates. The directors
make the final selection from a list of suitable
candidates provided by the Nominating Committee.

22
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As set out in its Terms of Reference, the Governance
and Human Resources Committee acts as the
Nominating Committee. As such, it is responsible for
developing, reviewing and monitoring the criteria and
processes for selecting members of the Board, other
than Minister-appointed members. The Committee
maintains an inventory of the skills and experience of
all sitting directors which is used to identify the
Board’s needs in terms of skills and experience when
recruiting new Board members.

Nominating Process for
Vacancies
Board vacancies are posted on BC Safety Authority
website and advertised in regional newspapers
throughout British Columbia. Trade organizations,
business groups and stakeholders may also be
contacted to attract applicants from diverse
backgrounds.
The Governance and Human Resources Committee
reviews applications and may interview any or all
applicants. Based on the relevant criteria, the
Committee submits to the Board a list of at least one
more nominee than the number required to fill the
vacancies on the Board. The Board makes its
selection from the list submitted by the Committee
based upon the principle of merit.

Nominating Process for
Renewal Terms
Where the term of an incumbent director is about
to expire and the incumbent is eligible for reappointment and wishes to remain on the Board for a
further term, it is considered that no vacancy on the
Board exists. Therefore, the Board may re-appoint
the incumbent, provided that the incumbent has
performed satisfactorily.
The Governance and Human Resources Committee
acting as the Nominating Committee co-ordinates
the evaluation process for the director(s) to be
re-appointed and makes the appropriate
recommendation to the Board. The Chair of the
Board, in consultation with the Chair of the Governance
and Human Resources Committee, completes an
evaluation with respect to each director to be
appointed. The Chair of the Board may also consult
others, including the President and Chief Executive
Officer, as deemed advisable.
The evaluation of each Board member is reviewed by
the members of the Nominating Committee at an incamera meeting.

Director Orientation
Prior to attending their first meeting, new directors
are provided with an orientation and education
program to assist them in understanding the duties
and obligations of directors and the contribution that
individual directors are expected to make. The
Governance and Human Resources Committee is
responsible for the design and delivery of the
orientation program.
Upon becoming a Board member, each director is
provided with a substantial package of material
relating to BC Safety Authority’s governance system
and its business. As well, BC Safety Authority’s
executive team meets with new directors to deliver
presentations on their areas of accountability and to
answer questions about the organization. Finally, new
board members also receive an occupational health
and safety briefing together with a tour of the
corporate office.
In 2012, three new directors attended an orientation
session.

The Board reviews the recommendation and
confirms or rejects the re-appointment based upon
the principle of merit.

British Columbia Safety Authority | Annual Report 2012
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Ongoing Director Education Board Performance
The Board recognizes the importance of ongoing
Assessment
director education and the need for each director to
take personal responsibility for this process.
To facilitate ongoing education, the Governance and
Human Resources Committee:
• Periodically canvases directors to determine their
training and education needs and interests;

The Governance and Human Resources Committee
conducts a survey on a regular basis to evaluate the
overall effectiveness of the Board and the Board and
Committee Chairs. The Board Chair also solicits
feedback from individual directors every year through
one-on-one meetings.

• Arranges for the attendance, at BC Safety
Authority’s expense, at seminars or conferences of
interest and relevance to their position as a
director of BC Safety Authority; and

Directors complete a detailed questionnaire for
quantitative and qualitative ratings in the following
areas:

• Encourages and facilitates presentations by staff
and by outside experts to the Board or committees
on matters of particular importance or emerging
significance.
Procedures are also in place to ensure that the Board
is kept up to date and has timely access to all
information necessary to carry out its duties. This
includes:
• Receiving a comprehensive package of material at
least seven days in advance in preparation for
Board and Committee meetings;
• Attending an annual two-day strategic planning
session; and
• Receiving reports from each of the Board Committees
on their work at previous committee meetings.
During 2012 individual directors attended courses
provided by the Institute of Corporate Directors on:
• Director Compensation
• Managing the CEO and Succession Planning
• The Fine Art of Determining CEO Compensation
At regular Board meetings, directors also received
presentations by staff on the status of BC Safety
Authority’s Risk Assessment and Enforcement Programs.
24
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• Personal performance and contribution;
• Performance of the Board as a whole, including
Board and Committee structure and processes;
and
• Effectiveness of the Board in fulfilling its
objectives.
Feedback may also be solicited from the executive
team on Board performance.
The Governance and Human Resources Committee
reviews the evaluation report and makes any
recommendations for changes to enhance the
performance of the Board and its Committees. In
2012 the Board decided to defer the next evaluation
to 2013.

Committees of the Board

• Reviewed and approved internal auditor’s annual
audit plan;

Each committee operates according to a Boardapproved mandate outlining its duties and
responsibilities. When required, these committees
make recommendations to the Board for approval.

• Reviewed regular reports by internal auditors on
the audits performed and monitored
management’s responses;

The 2012 Committee structure included the:
• Finance and Audit Committee
• Information Technology Task Force (dissolved
as of April 1, 2012)
• Governance and Human Resources Committee
(also serves as the Nominating Committee)
• Strategic Advisory Committee
The Finance and Audit Committee assists the Board
in fulfilling its oversight responsibilities relating to BC
Safety Authority’s financial reporting, accounting
systems, budgets, internal controls, and audit process.
Over the past year the Finance and Audit Committee,
in accordance with its mandate, accomplished the
following:
• Reviewed and monitored management’s plans to
strengthen the financial position of BC Safety
Authority;
• Provided oversight to management’s financial risk
management policies and procedures;
• Provided oversight to management’s internal
financial controls framework;
• Selected and recommended to the Board for
approval the external auditors and reviewed and
approved the audit plan;
• Reviewed with management the external auditor’s
financial statements, notes to financial statements
and Management Discussion and Analysis prior to
publication;

• Reviewed and recommended for approval a fee
increase;
• Reviewed BC Safety Authority’s investment
portfolio and reserve requirements; and
• Monitored management’s implementation reports
with respect to the project to replace BC Safety
Authority’s information technology system.
The Information Technology Task Force was
dissolved as of April 1, 2012 and there were no
meetings in 2012. Oversight for the project to
replace BC Safety Authority’s information technology
system was assumed by the Finance and Audit
Committee.
The Governance and Human Resources
Committee assists the Board in oversight
responsibilities relating to BC Safety Authority’s
governance, compensation and human resource
policies and strategies. The Committee also serves
as the Nominating Committee.
Over the past year, the Governance and Human
Resources Committee, in accordance with its
mandate, accomplished the following:
• Acting as the Nominating Committee, recruited
and recommended to the Board the appointment
of two candidates to replace outgoing directors;
• Provided oversight to the Board orientation
process;
• Reviewed and recommended for approval a Board
compensation increase of 1.8% per year for the
next three years commencing April 1, 2013;
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• Conducted the annual review of BC Safety
Authority’s governance practices and made
recommendations to the Board for amendments;

• Monitored the management of technical risk
registries and operational activities including
education and enforcement; and

• Approved the audited corporate results for the
2011 Variable Incentive Plan results;

• Approved management's proposed policy to
address IT security issues, including the
development of a communications protocol.

• Reviewed management’s proposed Succession
Plan for Executive and Leadership positions;
• Provided oversight to the collective bargaining
process; and

In-Camera Sessions

• Established performance plans for the Chief
Executive Officer and Corporate Secretary and
evaluated the performance of the Chief Executive
Officer and Corporate Secretary.

It is the practice of the Board and committees to hold
in-camera sessions at the conclusion of each
regularly scheduled meeting. This is a standing
agenda item for all meetings. The directors meet first
with the President and Chief Executive Officer
followed by a further session with no members of
management present.

The Strategic Advisory Committee assists the
Board in fulfilling its oversight responsibilities in the
areas of strategic planning, business planning,
regulatory review and change, and enterprise risk
management.
Over the past year the Strategic Advisory Committee,
in accordance with its mandate, accomplished the
following:
• Provided oversight to management’s risk
management framework, policies and procedures;
• Directed the long-term strategic planning process
which resulted in the creation of BC Safety
Authority’s 10-Year Strategy 2013 - 2023;
• Reviewed and recommended for Board approval
the State of Safety Report and the Annual Report
on Safety Regulation;
• Reviewed regular reports by internal auditors
related to operations on the audits performed and
monitored management’s responses;
• Engaged with Technical Advisory Committee
members;
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Code of Ethical Conduct
for Directors
Each director must sign an annual disclosure
statement and comply with BC Safety Authority’s
Code of Ethical Conduct. BC Safety Authority’s
mandate requires that its policies and practices be
driven by safety. Directors must not be affected (or
perceived to be affected) by conflicting interests or
conflicting loyalties. BC Safety Authority requires that
its directors and senior officers comply with
applicable statutory standards and practice high
ethical standards of business conduct.

Director Attendance
Board and Board Committee meetings are set two
years in advance to optimize director attendance.
Members of the Senior Executive are invited to attend
all Board meetings and may also attend the various
Committee meetings. Non-attendance at Board and
Board Committee meetings is expected to be rare.
New Board and Committee appointments are
generally effective on April 1 each year. In 2012 there

were 4 regularly scheduled Board meetings, a 3 day
strategic planning session and 1 special Board
meeting. The following table illustrates the number of
meetings each Director attended as compared to the
number of meetings the particular director was
eligible to attend during the 12 months that ended
December 31, 2012. In addition some directors also
attended the Annual Public Meeting, a Tech Talk, a
meeting with Technical Advisory Committee
members, and ride-alongs with BC Safety Authority
safety officers.

Record of Attendance by Directors
DIRECTORS

Peter Cook
Richard Ballantyne
Hoss Budde
Brian Fehr
Hugh Gordon3
Steve Lornie
Dan Miller
Alison Narod4
Dan Mott
Jo-Ann Panneton
Janet Pau
Lorna Pawluk5
John Watson6
Donald Young7

3
4
5
6
7

BOARD OF
DIRECTORS

FINANCE
& AUDIT
COMMITTEE

GOVERNANCE &
STRATEGIC
HUMAN RESOURCES ADVISORY
COMMITTEE
COMMITTEE

8 MEETINGS

4 MEETINGS

5 MEETINGS

5 MEETINGS

8/8
7/8
8/8
7/8
6/6
8/8
8/8
6/6
7/8
8/8
7/8
2/2
2/2
2/2

4/4
1/1
4/4
4/4
4/4
3/3
4/4
1/1
1/1

5/5
5/5
3/5
5/5
5/5
3/5
4/4
4/4
-

5/5
5/5
3/5
4/5
3/3
2/2
3/3
2/2
-

TOTAL

22/22
13/14
17/17
13/18
10/10
16/17
13/13
9/9
17/18
11/13
18/19
4/4
7/7
3/3

Appointed to Board March 29, 2012
Appointed to Board April 1, 2012
Retired from Board March 31, 2012
Retired from Board March 31, 2012
Retired from Board March 31, 2012
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Directors’ Compensation
The Governance and Human Resources Committee
is responsible for making recommendations to the
Board respecting director compensation. Current
compensation is based on director compensation in
comparable organizations as determined through an
independent survey in 2009.
Director compensation is set at such a level so as to:
• Affirm the directors’ responsibilities and the
professional nature of the work that directors are
expected to perform;
• Attract and retain qualified individuals to serve as
directors;

• Partially compensate directors for their time and
lost opportunity costs and be seen as “value
received” for “value given”;
• Recognize the different levels of time and
responsibility associated with the Board Chair,
Committee Chair and director positions; and
• Recognize an element of public service.
As of April 1, 2010 BC Safety Authority director
compensation is as follows:
• Annual retainer for Board Chair

$40,000

• Annual retainer for Committee Chairs

$17,000

• Annual retainer for Directors

$12,000

• Meeting fees

$750 per meeting

The following table reflects the total retainers and meeting fees that were earned by directors in 2012.

Directors’ Retainer and Meeting Fees for 2012
DIRECTORS

RETAINER

MEETING FEE

TOTAL
RETAINER/FEES

Peter Cook (Board Chair)
Richard Ballantyne (Committee Chair)
Hoss Budde
Brian Fehr
Hugh Gordon (Committee Chair)1
Steve Lornie
Dan Miller (Committee Chair)
Dan Mott
Alison Narod2
Jo-Ann Panneton
Janet Pau
Lorna Pawluk (Committee Chair)3
John Watson4
Donald Young (Committee Chair)5
Totals:

1
2
3
4
5
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$

$

40,000
17,000
12,000
12,000
12,850
12,000
17,000
12,000
9,000
12,000
12,000
4,250
3,000
4,250
179,350

$

$

16,500
9,750
13,500
9,375
8,250
12,000
10,500
12,750
6,750
9,000
13,500
3,000
5,250
2,250
132,375

$

$

56,500
26,750
25,500
21,375
21,100
24,000
27,500
24,750
15,750
21,000
25,500
7,250
8,250
6,500
311,725

Executive Compensation
BC Safety Authority is a progressive employer and a
leader in the field of safety. To attract and retain highcalibre employees, compensation levels should be
competitive and fair. Therefore, BC Safety Authority
offers a total compensation program that is internally
equitable, competitive in the external market and
recognizes exceptional performance.
To ensure that positions are remunerated equitably,
BC Safety Authority worked with an expert in job
evaluation to establish base salary ranges within a
comparable ratio range of 80 to 120 per cent around
the median. Given BC Safety Authority’s unique
position between the public and private sector
business models, BC Safety Authority has adopted a
market compensation approach that blends the
public sector and private sector markets.

Annual incentive awards are determined on a
discretionary basis based on the achievement of
strategic objectives and targets that are established
annually by the Board of Directors. The results are strictly
and rigorously correlated with performance (corporate
and individual) and therefore may vary from year to year.
As such, the incentive component of total compensation
is remuneration at risk for executive team members.
The Governance and Human Resources Committee
makes recommendations to the Board of Directors
respecting salary ranges for senior management and
administers the performance review process for the
President and Chief Executive Officer and the
Corporate Secretary annually. The President and
Chief Executive Officer reviews the performance and
salary of senior management.

Executive Compensation for 2012
NAME AND
PRINCIPAL POSITION

SALARY

INCENTIVE PLAN
COMPENSATION

PENSION

PAID FOR 2011

HEALTH &
WELLNESS

COMPENSATION

ALL OTHER

BENEFITS

PAID

TOTAL

PREVIOUS
2 YEARS TOTALS

PERFORMANCE
(C)

(D)

(E)

Catherine Roome
President and CEO

244,698.02

(A)

35,733.81 25,631.02

14,208.00

12,000.00

332,270.85 2010 = 256,158.27
2011 = 316,939.61

Sue Gagné1
VP Human Resources

128,135.38

9,886.22 13,151.77

9,996.00

9,187.46

170,356.83 2010 = 107,859.33
2011 = 147,092.74

Phil Gothe
VP Technical Programs

158,848.26

14,848.37 16,373.96

9,516.00

8,400.00

207,986.59 2010 = 197,375.87
2011 = 209,607.34

Shelley Milne2
Corporate Secretary &
VP Legal & Policy

127,064.24

12,726.17 12,947.50

6,564.00

8,478.39

167,780.30 2010 = 166,382.95
2011 = 172,687.04

Erik Peterson
VP Corporate Services
& CFO

202,569.40

3,960.89

Included
in Salary

10,932.00

Included
in Salary

217,462.29 2011 = 58,892.05

Brian Rowland
VP Operations and
Service Excellence

149,535.52

4,701.35 15,369.95

8,429.25

8,429.25

186,465.32 2011 = 64,538.46

(A)
(B)
(C)
(D)
(E)
Note:

(B)

Salary earned
Incentive Plan Compensation Paid in 2012 based on performance and salary in 2011
Pensions
MSP Premiums, Extended Health Care, Dental, Group Life, Long & Short Term Disability, Accidental Death & Dismemberment
Car Allowance, Vacation Leave Payout
2010 calculations did not include Health and Wellness Benefits

1
2

Promoted to Vice President Human Resources
May 25, 2012
Based on 4 days per week
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Board of Directors
Peter Cook | Chair of the Board | Vancouver, BC
Director since: April 1, 2004 | Latest Date for Retirement: March 31, 2014 |
Appointed by: Board
Ex officio, Finance and Audit Committee
Ex officio, Governance and Human Resources Committee
Ex officio, Strategic Advisory Committee
Ex officio, Information Technology Task Force

Peter Cook is an experienced financial services executive and professional
economist whose career spans over 40 years in business and government.
For the last decade, Peter has managed both a management consulting
firm and a company that specializes in treasury services for financial
institutions. Prior to that, Peter was the President and Chief Executive Officer of Citizens Trust Company and
Chief Financial Officer of VanCity Savings Credit Union. Peter has served as director of various companies,
community associations, foundations, professional organizations and other authorities. Peter is a graduate of
the University of Victoria and the University of Western Ontario and completed the Stanford University
Graduate School of Business executive program.
Richard Ballantyne | Vancouver, BC
Director since: April 1, 2008 | Latest Date for Retirement: March 31, 2014 |
Appointed by: Board
Member, Finance and Audit Committee (April 1, 2011 – March 31, 2012)
Chair, Strategic Advisory Committee (appointed April 1, 2012)
Chair, Information Technology Task Force

Richard Ballantyne is the President of a consulting practice providing business
development and project execution advice to clients in the energy and marine
terminal sectors. Prior to starting his consulting business, Richard was President
of Terasen Pipelines and was previously President of Trans Mountain Pipeline
and held senior management positions at BC Gas Utility Ltd. He has served on
several public, private and association boards including Cimarron Engineering Ltd. and Canadian Hydro Developers
Inc. and is a former Chair of the Canadian Energy Pipeline Association. Richard is a member of the Association of
Professional Engineers and Geoscientists of British Columbia, and the Institute of Corporate Directors.
Hoss Budde | Burnaby, BC
Director since: April 1, 2010 | Latest Date for Retirement: March 31, 2016 |
Appointed by: Minister
Member, Governance and Human Resources Committee
Member, Finance & Audit Committee

Hoss Budde is the owner and President of Burnaby Manufacturing, a
company engaged in the manufacturing of natural gas and propane products.
Hoss’ past experience includes being a trustee of an industry medical plan for
five years, member of the Gas Advisory Committee for 10 years, member of
the Gas Technology Committee for five years, owner and President of a
specialty wholesaler for the plumbing, heating and gas industries, Editor of the
Gas Journal for seven years and owner and President of a mechanical contracting company for 29 years. Hoss
is also a holder of active Sheet Metal TQ, Class “B” and Class “A” Gasfitters licences.
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Brian Fehr | Vanderhoof, BC
Director since: April 1, 2009 | Latest Date for Retirement: March 31, 2015 |
Appointed by: Board
Member, Governance and Human Resources Committee
Member, Strategic Advisory Committee

Brian Fehr is the president of the B.I.D. Group of Companies which specializes
in providing services to the forestry and mining sectors, including construction,
fabrication and maintenance. Brian has been involved in the resource sector for
over 30 years. Brian is the Past Chair of the Board for the BC Association for
Crane Safety and a director on the boards of BC Jobs and Investment, Baldy
Hughes Therapeutic Community and a past director on the board of ICBA.
Hugh Gordon | Qualicum Beach, BC
Director since: March 29, 2012 | Latest Date for Retirement: March 29, 2018 |
Appointed by: Board
Chair, Finance and Audit Committee (appointed April 1, 2012)

Hugh Gordon was a tax partner with KPMG in Calgary, Toronto, Victoria and
Vancouver. As well, he has consulted to the Government of British Columbia on
various fiscal issues and as a negotiator, including during the Nisga’a land claim
and self-government negotiations. Hugh Gordon has served on civic, charitable
and business boards and commissions and the boards of B.C. Rail, the British
Columbia Wine Authority and the University of Victoria. He is a recipient of the
Queen’s Jubilee Medal in recognition of his service to the community.
Steve Lornie | Vancouver, BC
Director since: April 1, 2010 | Latest Date for Retirement: March 31, 2016 |
Appointed by: Minister
Member, Finance and Audit Committee
Member, Strategic Advisory Committee

Steve Lornie is a partner in Stonecroft Management Ltd., a North Vancouverbased construction management firm. Steve has spent most of his 40-year
career in the construction industry as a company owner, building a substantial
number of industrial, institutional, residential and commercial projects around the
province. He and his wife also operate Okanagan Crush Pad Winery in
Summerland, BC. Steve currently chairs the Independent Contractors and
Businesses Association and is on the boards of a number of private corporations.
Arthur Daniel Miller | Victoria, BC
Director since: April 1, 2008 | Latest Date for Retirement: March 31, 2014 |
Appointed by: Board
Chair, Governance and Human Resources Committee

Dan brings over 35 years of experience in the private and public sectors.
Dan has worked as an industrial millwright in the public sector, and has
held various senior positions with the Province of British Columbia
including Premier, Deputy Premier, Minister of Energy, Mines and Petroleum
Resources, Minister of Skills, Training and Labour; and Minister of Forests.
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Board of Directors (continued)
Daniel Mott | Vancouver, BC
Director since: April 1, 2009 | Latest Date for Retirement: March 31, 2015 |
Appointed by: Board
Member, Governance and Human Resources Committee
Member, Strategic Advisory Committee (April 1, 2011 – March 1, 2012)
Member, Finance and Audit Committee (appointed April 1, 2012)

Dan Mott is an experienced executive in the electrical industry in British
Columbia. Dan has significant experience in project management and
business development and is a past Chair of the BC Construction Industry
Training Organization and the Canadian Apprenticeship Forum. Dan is also
a past President of the Electrical Contractors Association of BC. Dan has
20 years experience on the Negotiating Committee of the Construction
Labour Relations Association.
Alison Narod | Vancouver, BC
Director since: April 1, 2012 | Latest Date for Retirement: March 31, 2018 |
Appointed by: Board
Member, Strategic Advisory Committee (appointed April 1, 2012)

Alison Narod practices in the areas of labour and employment law, human
rights, workers compensation, family and administrative law at the Vancouver
law firm of Farris, Vaughan, Wills & Murphy LLP. Alison is currently a
Disciplinary Panel Chair for the Investment Industry Regulatory Organization
of Canada, a member of the Community Care and Assisted Living Appeal
Board, and a Director of ACT Autism Community Training Society.
Jo-Ann Panneton | Vancouver, BC
Director since: December 6, 2011 | Latest Date for Retirement: December 5, 2017 |
Appointed by: Minister
Member, Governance and Human Resources Committee (appointed December
16, 2012)

Jo-Ann Panneton is a management consultant with extensive experience in
continuous improvement and operational change management. She has
worked in several industry sectors including energy, automotive
manufacturing, business advisory services, food and consumer products,
building materials manufacturing, transportation, and materials recycling.
She is Founder and President of New Media Design Group Inc. and a
principal of the Stratcomm Group of Communications Strategists. Jo-Ann is Chair of the Board of Wood
Composite Technologies Inc., and a graduate of the University of British Columbia.
Janet Pau | Vancouver, BC
Director since: April 1, 2008 | Latest Date for Retirement: March 31, 2014 |
Appointed by: Board
Member, Finance and Audit Committee (appointed April 1, 2012)
Member, Strategic Advisory Committee
Member, Governance and Human Resources (April 1, 2011 – March 31, 2012)
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Janet Pau has extensive experience as a senior financial executive with
Canfor Corporation where she retired from the position of Vice President
and Treasurer in 2004. Janet is a Chartered Financial Analyst and a graduate of York
University. She has held directorships in a variety of industries and non-profit
organizations throughout her career. She is currently serving on several
boards including the University of British Columbia Board of Governors, and the Canadian Employment
Insurance Financing Board. Janet is a member of the Financial Executive Institute, the Institute of Corporate
Directors and the Vancouver Society of Financial Analysts.
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Lorna Pawluk | Vancouver, BC
Director since: April 1, 2006 | Retired: March 2012 | Appointed by: Board
Chair, Strategic Advisory Committee (April 1, 2010 – March 31, 2012)

Lorna Pawluk is a lawyer in Vancouver who advises employers on
regulatory, employment and human rights issues relating to workplace
health and safety. She also appears before tribunals and courts on their
behalf. In addition to having her own practice, Lorna is Associate Counsel
to Bernard & Partners, where she heads up their occupational health and
safety group. She is Vice-Chair of the National Administrative Law Section
of the Canadian Bar Association and is a member of the Board of Directors
of the College of Certified Massage Therapists. She speaks to employers’
groups and publishes articles relating to her area of practice. Lorna holds a B.A. (Hons.) and M.A. in Political
Science from the University of Alberta, an LLB from the University of Alberta Law School and LLM from the
University of British Columbia Law School.
John Watson | Richmond, BC
Director since: April 1, 2004 | Chair of the Board: April 1, 2004 – March 31, 2009 |
Retired: March 2012 | Appointed by: Board
Member, Finance and Audit Committee (April 1, 2011 – March 31, 2012)
Member, Governance and Human Resources Committee (April 1, 2011 –
March 31, 2012)
Member, Information Technology Task Force (April 1, 2011 – March 31, 2012)

John Watson is a Professional Engineer and a Chartered Arbitrator with
over 35 years of experience in managing the design and construction of
major industrial projects in Canada and abroad. John has served as
President of the Association of Professional Engineers and Geoscientists of
British Columbia, and of the Consulting Engineers of British Columbia. A founding director of the Vancouver
International Airport Authority, John has chaired numerous community citizens' building committees and has
served in a number of other volunteer positions.
Donald Young | North Vancouver, BC
Director since: April 1, 2009 | Retired: March 2012 | Appointed by: Board
Chair, Finance and Audit Committee (April 1, 2011 – March 31, 2012)
Member, Information Technology Task Force (April 1, 2011 – March 31, 2012)

Donald Young is a chartered accountant and was a senior partner with the
accounting firm of KPMG LLP until his retirement. Don has provided
financial and planning advice to business as a consultant and is a Fellow
and a past president of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of British
Columbia. Don is a member of the Board of Directors, Audit Committee,
and Health and Safety and Environment Committee of Dundee Precious
Metals Inc.; a board member, Compensation Committee member and Audit
Committee Chair of Midas Gold Corp.; and a board member, Audit Committee Chair and member of the
Corporate Governance Committee of Kimber Resources Inc. Don has served on the boards of directors of
other publicly listed and not-for-profit organizations and is a member of the Institute of Corporate Directors.

British Columbia Safety Authority | Annual Report 2012

33

Corporate Governance

Officers
Catherine Roome | President and Chief Executive Officer
Catherine believes that people have an extraordinary ability to bring a
shared vision into reality. Becoming President and Chief Executive Officer
in 2011, she applies her broad organizational experience, particularly her
acumen for risk management, into steering BC Safety Authority towards its
vision of Safe technical systems. Everywhere. As a creative and principled
leader, Catherine values the power of engaging people for a common
purpose. She encourages her team to bring their unique potential to
building networks that connect all those who use or operate technical
equipment in order to share knowledge and expertise to advance safety. A
professional engineer, and recipient of several business and leadership
awards, Catherine received her degree in electrical engineering from the
University of Victoria.

Sue Gagné | Vice President, Human Resources
Sue is a passionate leader who believes that opportunities for learning and
growth are available everyday. Since joining BC Safety Authority in 2009
and as Vice President for Human Resources, Sue has leveraged her
expertise in human resources to strengthen connections between BC
Safety Authority and its employees. She advocates a corporate culture of
accountability, leadership, and openness in order to build confidence in the
safety system and promote higher levels of personal and professional
success. Prior to joining BC Safety Authority, Sue worked for several
companies in the learning, talent management, leadership, and change
management areas. Sue holds a Bachelor of Arts degree from the
University of Waterloo and a Master of Arts degree in Industrial and
Organizational Development Psychology from the University of Guelph.

Phil Gothe | Vice President, Technical Programs
As Vice President, Technical Programs, Phil leads a team of technical
specialists who are keenly focused on advancing the understanding and
management of safety risks. With profound regard for the knowledge and
capability of clients and employees, he firmly believes that the development
of a system of duty holders is vital to building and maintaining confidence
in the safety system. He is inspired by continuous development and lifelong
learning, and believes deeply in peoples’ capacity to improve and achieve
results. Before joining BC Safety Authority in 2009, Phil spent ten years
leading business strategy development and continuous improvement
consulting engagements in forest products, helicopter and heavy
equipment industries. His career started in naval operations in the Royal Canadian Navy after graduating from
the Collège Militaire Royal de Saint-Jean. Phil received his MBA from the University of Western Ontario, and a
Chartered Director designation from The Directors College.
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Shelley Milne | Corporate Secretary and Vice President,
Legal and Policy
With more than 25 years of experience working in complex public and
private organizations, Shelley is uniquely positioned to apply lessons
learned in sustaining a solid governance structure at BC Safety Authority.
She is an excellent problem solver and creative in finding practical ways to
implement the organization’s strategies. Before joining BC Safety Authority
in 2004, Shelley held several positions at ICBC, most recently as VP,
Corporate Law and Corporate Secretary. She also spent three years in
Hong Kong as a lawyer for both Jardine Matheson and American Express.
Shelley inspires confidence in BC Safety Authority through her focus on
accountability and her clear sense of fairness. She leads a highly competent team that provides effective legal
and corporate governance and meaningful stakeholder consultation. Shelley holds a BA and LLB from
Dalhousie University and was called to the BC Bar in 1980.

Erik Peterson | Vice President, Corporate Services and
Chief Financial Officer
Erik joined BC Safety Authority in mid-2011 to support the business
transformation under the guidance of a new management team. Since
then, he has grasped the importance of a safety system to the quality of
our daily lives, noting how a child can safely illuminate a room by a mere
flick of a switch. He brings decades of experience in consulting or line
management, about financial management, collaborative problem-solving,
strategy and turnarounds to BC Safety Authority. Erik leads a varied team
that excels at delivering IT services and first class stewardship of financial
sustainability. He is a graduate of McGill University, gained his Chartered
Accountant designation and is a member of the Financial Executives Institute. Prior to joining BC Safety
Authority, Erik built his own consultancy and held senior executive roles with Westar Mining, a direct mail
subsidiary of J. Walter Thompson, Haywood Securities and FPInnovations.

Brian Rowland | Vice President, Operations and Service Excellence
As a life-long learner, Brian believes that education and knowledge have a
profound and positive impact on our society. He is committed to providing
BC Safety Authority clients with the right knowledge of technical systems
safety risks and insight to mitigate these risks, in order to build confidence
and support innovation across the safety system. He leads his teams of
Operations, Communications and Marketing professionals to build strong
relationships with clients, solve complex business problems, and share BC
Safety Authority's expertise both within and beyond its existing borders.
Brian has built a career in the private sector in senior operational and
delivery roles, and as a service excellence consultant. He holds a B.Sc. in
Management Information Systems from Penn State University and a Master of Science in Marketing from the
John Molson School of Business at Concordia University.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis

This report discusses the financial and operating results for British Columbia Safety Authority for the year
ended December 31, 2012, and should be read in conjunction with the audited financial statements. This
summary provides additional information on key elements of the Annual Report and Audited Financial
Statements.

Results
For the year ended December 31, 2012 we recorded an excess of revenues over expenditures of $142,704,
better than last year’s deficiency of $936,335 and slightly more than our budgeted loss of $389,187. Early in
the year, and for much of 2012, revenue failed to meet management’s expectations. We responded by
curtailing 2012 spending. By year-end, we had reduced expenses to 2011 levels, $1.19 million lower than
budget. This led to the positive bottom line.
While lower than planned, total revenues for 2012 at $40.4 million showed a modest 2.7% improvement over
last year’s $39.4 million. Operating expenses at $40.3 million were slightly lower than last year’s $40.4 million.

TABLE 1:
2012

Revenue
Operating Expenses
Excess (Deficiency) of revenue over expenditures

$
$

40,431,000
40,289,000
143,000

2011

$

39,415,000
40,351,000
(936,000)

$

Permitting activity improved in Q4 2012. Q4 2012 revenues of $10.9 million exceeded Q4 2011 revenues of
$10.3 million by 5.9% ($600,000). Fee increases generated 3% of this improvement, and the other 2.9%
came about from a slightly better economy, management initiatives to capture electrical operating permit
revenue and success in developing the Alternative Safety Approaches (ASA) program.
Operating permit service fee revenue showed the biggest gains year-over-year, increasing by 10.2% from
$11.3 million in 2011 to $12.5 million in 2012. Much of this increase came about from special projects aimed
at the bulk loading of pressure vessels and the recapturing of electrical operating permits. Service fee
revenue from new installation permits increased by 1% from $21.2 million in 2011 to $21.4 million in 2012.
We noticed slight revenue improvement in every region of the province, except Vancouver Island where
service fee revenue declined 2.5% from $6.8 million in 2011 to $6.7 million in 2012.
GRAPH 1: REVENUE BY REGION

2012
$7,089,144
$7,003,270

Interior

2011
$12,893,068
$12,302,132

Lower Mainland North
Lower Mainland South/
East Kootenays

$7,728,359
$7,509,690
$5,848,917
$4,915,021

Northern

$6,655,881
$6,824,754

Vancouver Island

$-
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Compared to 2011, overall transaction volumes decreased by 6.2% which follows a similar decline in 2011 of
6.6% from the year previous. However the average value of a permit in 2012 compared to 2011 rose markedly
from $151.79 to $168.73, or 11.1%. This gain came mainly from increases in the value of an average
installation or operating permit, and only marginally (an effective 1%) from an increase in 2012 fees.
As noted, management controlled operating costs, at $40.3 million for 2012, below 2011 levels of $40.4
million, primarily by tightening spending in general, operating and administration, travel, and communications
and information services. 2012 costs included an additional $218,000 to engage a third-party to support our
investigations of the Babine and Lakeland sawmill incidents. In early 2013, we reported to the public, the
industry and to the Burns Lake community, nine recommendations aimed at significantly reducing the risk of
similar wood dust fuelled explosions.
Also of note for 2012, the company bargained with the GEU to jointly arrive at a 3-year labour contract. When
management put forward its final offer vote to employees, more than 90% of our union staff submitted ballots
and 84% voted in favour of the offer. We took this as a sign of the confidence employees have in our
leadership and in the future of the company, to which our staff have contributed very diligently.

Total Revenue
BC Safety Authority is a self-funded corporation and is not funded by the Province. Revenue generated
through the normal course of business goes back into improving the safety system in British Columbia. From
2007 until late 2012 we placed a fee freeze across most of the technologies under our regulatory mandate. In
late August 2012, after consultation and notice, we implemented our first fee increase in many years in a
number of technologies (electrical, gas, boilers and pressure vessels, and elevating devices). This fee
increase amounted to 3% for the four months remaining in the year 2012; we will implement additional fee
increases of 3% in January 2013 and the same again in early 2014.
The health of the construction industry in our marketplace, which excludes electrical and gas permitting in a
number of large urban areas in the Lower Mainland and Vancouver Island, influences our financial
performance. Installation permits are affected by housing starts, renovation activities and commercial
construction activities. In 2012 approximately 53% of service fee revenues (i.e. $21.4 million) came from
installation permits. Installation permit volumes declined 2.1% from 109,040 in 2011 to 106,741 in 2012.
Across all technologies and transactions, volumes fell 6.2% from 254,113 to 238,316. That overall shortfall
was more than recouped by an 11.2% increase in permit and other transaction values from $151.79 each to
$168.73 each. This increase came about from higher value work being done by contractors, and more
special project revenue which carries a higher average price. Our total service and related fee revenue
reached $39.8 million which was higher than the prior year at $38.4 million. This contributed to our first yearover-year increase in total annual revenue in four years.
Management took steps in 2012 to more rigorously enforce operating permits which fell under our regulatory
mandate but had not been successfully tracked from the date of installation, years earlier. We invoiced a total
of $118,000 new electrical operating permits and $224,000 of new boiler and pressure vessel operating
permits. Working with our clients in the oil and gas sector, we enrolled a dozen new clients in the Alternative
Safety Approaches program and invoiced an additional $604,000 in new revenue.
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The bar-chart below shows revenues leveling off in years prior to 2011 and the slight uptick in 2012.
GRAPH 2: TOTAL REVENUE 2006 – 2012
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When first laying plans in 2011 for the year ahead, management hoped that after five years of fee freezes on
most technologies, clients could absorb a 2012 fee increase of 5%. After consultation with stakeholders, we
chose instead to implement increases of 3% in 2012 and annually for 2013 and 2014. This outcome took time
and postponed our planned implementation of new fees for 2012 from June 30, 2012 to August 27, 2012.
Other factors contributing to sub-par revenue performance included disappointing levels of electrical
installation permit revenue, which at $14.3 million fell slightly (0.5% or $66,894) below 2011 levels.
Services and related fees represent approximately 98.4% of our revenue. Investment income, (1.3%),
monetary penalties, and other income make up the remainder.

GRAPH 3: TOTAL REVENUE 2012

Services and Related Fees 98%
$39,801,028
Monetary Penalties 0.05%
$19,000
Gain from Asset Disposals 0.19%
$77,496
Investment Income 1.32%
$533,691

While most general economic indicators for 2012 suggested that our revenues would improve, this outlook
applied mostly to urban centres such as Vancouver and Victoria where we have no mandate for gas or
electrical permitting. Housing starts in the rest of the province were stable in the first quarter but began to
weaken in the second, resulting in lower residential installation permit revenues. Commercial installation
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permit revenue improved in the first quarter, but fell short in the second. The third quarter saw more stability
and while revenues remained below expectations, they began to improve, particularly in the commercial
sector. This improvement continued into the fourth quarter, where there was a stronger than anticipated return
to revenue levels of the past. The bar-chart below shows the percentage change in revenue quarter-overquarter starting with the change from Q4 2011.
GRAPH 4: PERCENT CHANGE IN REVENUE FROM Q4 2011
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Revenue and Volume by Technology1
Services and related fee revenues flow from seven different technology streams; electrical, gas, elevating
devices, boilers/pressure-vessels/refrigeration, passenger ropeways, railways and amusement devices. In
2012 we began to realize significant revenues from the Alternative Safety Approaches (ASA) initiative
implemented in 2010. Alternative Safety Approaches allow more knowledgeable clients to register certain
technical equipment with us (for example, boilers and pressure vessels, or elevating devices) and BC Safety
Authority Safety Officers will either inspect the equipment (under an Equivalent Safety Approach) or audit the
client’s own safety management plan (SMP) for evidence of compliance with appropriate standards of safety.
The pie-chart below shows the distribution of service fee revenue from all sources including Alternative Safety
Approaches.
GRAPH 5: 2012 SERVICES & RELATED FEE REVENUE BY TECHNOLOGY
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Devices 15.4%
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Numbers are as billed and do not reflect the impact of deferral, therefore amounts do not align exactly with the
Financial Statements. Numbers have been rounded to the nearest $1,000.
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The next bar-chart compares total revenues for 2012 with 2011 for each significantly impacted technology
and Alternative Safety Approaches. The majority of our revenues originate with electrical installation permit
revenue. Operating permit revenue flows from that new installation base and from the installation of elevating
devices and boilers. 2012 new installation activity showed a small increase over 2011 in three technologies:
gas, elevating and boilers.
Compared to 2011, electrical operating permit revenues in 2012 rose by 14.8% ($130,000) to $1 million.
Boiler and pressure vessel operating permit revenues improved by 14.9% ($780,000) to $6,015,000 – an
increase attributable to the new Alternative Safety Approaches Program. Other operating permit gains came
from slightly improved economic conditions and from special projects to recover revenues from unpermitted
operating equipment.

GRAPH 6: 2012 VS 2011 REVENUE BY TECHNOLOGY
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Electrical Technology
Electrical technology, the largest generator of revenue among our regulated technologies, accounted for $16.2
million (40.3%) of services and related fees revenue in 2012, compared to $16.1 million (41.9% of revenue) in 2011.
The slight dollar increase stems mainly from fee increases and special projects to recover revenues from
unpermitted operating equipment or systems of a significant size.
New installation permit volumes decreased by 5.6% and installation revenue declined by 0.5% to $14.3 million,
mostly due to a decline in the number of residential and commercial installations. Owing to larger job sizes, the
average price of a new electrical installation permit increased 5.8% to $220 in 2012 from $208 in 2011. The lower
number of permits issued in 2012 indicates a lower level of activity in the industry.
An analysis of the types of installation permits taken by contractors in 2012 reveals that commercial installation
permit revenue increased slightly by 0.2% ($16,000) to $7.1 million; compared to 2011, residential permit revenue
declined 1.2% ($83,000) also to $7.1 million.
Operating permit revenue, a smaller component of electrical revenue, increased in 2012 by 14.8% ($129,245) to $1
million. Special projects to identify and certify new operating opportunities contributed to the increase.
Examination volumes decreased by 13.2% and related revenues declined by 16.5% from $170,128 in 2011 to
$142,052 in 2012. Contractor licence volume grew 6.4% and contractor licence revenue rose by 6.8%, to
$735,440.
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Boilers, Pressure Vessels and Refrigeration Technology
The second largest revenue stream, the boiler, pressure vessel and refrigeration technology, improved
considerably over the previous year, accounting for $9.1 million or 22.6% of total 2012 service fee revenue,
compared to 20.8% or $8.0 million in 2011. This increase primarily came from a 14.9% ($779,994) increase in
operating permits, much of which we attribute to the Alternative Safety Approaches Program in the Northern
region. 2012 also saw gains in inspection revenue to $1.1 million (up 27.3%), examinations to $283,364 (up
8.2%) and design registration to $717,346 (up 4.9%). Other elements (new installations and examinations)
held steady compared to 2011 while licensing fell 6.2% to $202,373.
Gas Technology
The gas technology is our third largest revenue stream, accounting for $7.5 million (18.7%) of 2012 services
and related fees revenue, a slight increase from $7.3 million (19%) in 2011. In 2012, revenue increased by
2.4% ($178,215). The increase in 2012 was due to higher volumes of residential installations as well as higher
value commercial installations.
In 2012, new installation permit revenue increased 4.3% to $5.5 million compared to $5.3 million in 2011. The
biggest increases in gas installations were in the Northern and Vancouver Island regions. Similar to 2011, the
growth in gas was experienced in regions where gas predominates in residential installations compared to
electricity. The Northern region also benefits from a larger concentration of industrial installations.
Operating permit revenue increased marginally over 2011 results, 0.6% to $350,744 in 2012. Gas fitters are
required to renew their Certificate of Qualifications every three years. 2012 witnessed the low end of the cycle
and a 19.4% decline in certification revenue, from $421,451 in 2011 to $339,354 in 2012. Examination
revenue increased slightly in 2012, by 2.3% to $281,706.
Elevating Devices Technology
The elevating devices technology experienced a revenue increase of 5.9% ($340,381) and accounted for $6.2
million (15.4%) of services and related fees revenue compared to $5.8 million (15.1%) of revenue in 2011.
Overall permit volumes also improved over 2011 by 2.8%.
Compared to 2011, installation permit revenue increased 13.3% to $985,828. Installation permit volumes
increased by 7.2% over 2011, in part due to passenger elevator and personal lift activities and growth in
multi-unit construction (primarily in the Lower Mainland). The turnaround from the experience of the last two
years indicates an increase in confidence in major projects. Operating permit revenue in 2012 outperformed
2011, with growth of 4.1% to $4.5 million compared to 1.4% growth to $4.3 million in 2011.
Examination volumes increased while revenue remained unchanged from 2011 at $36,087. Design
registration revenue increased by 6.8% to $471,676, indicating continued growth in installation permit and
inspection revenue for 2013.
Railways Technology
Railways technology revenues declined to $522,439 (1.3%) of service and related fees revenue in 2012
compared to $613,004 in 2011. This represents a decrease of 14.8% ($90,565) in revenue though we
experienced a 4.6% increase in volume. 2011 revenues included a one-time service contract with the
Ministry of Transportation for work performed in connection with the Evergreen Line. In 2012, we introduced
stakeholders to a new fee structure for Railway clients that includes a basic fee component and a volume
component, both serving to bring stronger risk-based consideration into the fee calculations. We plan to
begin the implementation of this over the next five years. The impact will increase fee revenues by
approximately 10% each year, which will contribute to the sustainability of this important part of our
safety oversight.
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Passenger Ropeways Technology
The passenger ropeways technology in 2012 represented $493,000 (1.2%) of services and related fees
revenue in 2012 compared to $505,000 in 2011. In earlier years we oversaw technical safety in large
ropeways projects such as the Peak-to-Peak Gondola at Whistler. No similar sized installation projects have
since emerged in the past three years. Because of the high cost of ropeway installations and the economic
uncertainties in mountain tourism, installation permits are subject to more frequent and deeper fluctuations
than other technologies. Revenue fell due to fewer new installations in 2012 than in 2011. Operating permit
volumes and corresponding revenue varied little, as installations of ropeways were often replacements of
existing permitted lifts. The 2012 fee increase of 5% contributed to revenue.
Amusement Devices Technology
The amusement devices technology represented $195,000 (0.5%) of the services and related fees revenue in
2012 compared to $132,000 (0.3%) in 2011. The amusement devices technology began a series of fee
increases in September 2011 which will end in March 2013. While much of the increase in revenues can be
attributed to the fee increase, this technology also saw volume increases in contractor licensing, new
installations and operating permits.

Other Revenue
Investment Income
Compared to 2011, 2012 investment income, net of mark-to-market adjustments, fell 41.4% to $534,000 from
$974,000. We held the bulk of our investments in a short-term bond fund which is sensitive to changes in
interest rates. In early 2012, concerns that rates might rise led to capital losses of $203,561 in 2012. These
losses offset a portion of the interest income from the fund, resulting in the lower overall returns in 2012. In
2011, with the bond market anticipating falling interest rates, capital gains increased investments by $62,194.
Monetary Penalty Revenue
In an effort to continue the implementation of our operational model and focus on areas of high risk, we levied
monetary penalty enforcement actions on several contractors, equipment operators and others. In 2012
monetary penalties invoiced and accounted for as revenue amounted to $30,000 and $19,000 (respectively).
This compares to $24,550 and nil in 2011. Further information on monetary penalties is available in our 2012
State of Safety Report. We account for these revenues in a restricted reserve account which must be spent
only on education or related initiatives.

Expenses
In response to the generally tight economic conditions of 2012, we carefully contained operating expenses
without impairing safety activities. For the first time in many years, operating costs fell from the year
previous. Total expenses in 2012 of $40,288,511 decreased $62,880 or 0.16% from 2011, the result of
reductions in the costs of general, operating and administration, travel, and communications and information
services. Much of the reduction was driven by narrowing our spending focus to bring in our IT business
system replacement project on-time and on-budget.
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The pie-chart below shows the breakdown of our operating expenses in 2012. Note that salaries and benefits
make up 69% of costs.
GRAPH 7: 2012 OPERATING EXPENSES BY TYPE
Salaries & Benefits 69.3%
General Operating &
Administration 8.4%
Amortization of Property,
Equipment & Intangibles 6.4%
Building Occupancy 6.0%
Communications &
Information Services 4.8%
Transportation 4.2%
Corporate Governance 0.9%

Proportionately most costs changed very little in 2012 compared to 2011. The bar-chart below shows a high
level comparison of expenses by key category. Significant changes are discussed below.
GRAPH 8: OPERATING EXPENSE COMPARISON 2012 – 2011
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Salaries and Benefits
Compared to 2011, salaries and benefits increased $919,937 (3.4%) to $27.9 million due to general increases,
collective agreement obligations and a substantial measure of at-risk leaders’ pay for significantly achieving
performance targets. In 2011 our leaders gave up 50% of at-risk pay for the sake of a better bottom-line,
despite having met most of the at-risk targets.
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Building Occupancy
Compared to 2011 building occupancy expenses increased $100,642 (4.4%) to $2.4 million. We reduced the
number of offices in 2012 and consolidated regions from seven to five. The space needs of the business
changed and while total square footage decreased slightly, the costs of new premises in Kamloops, Fort St.
John and Vernon along with market rate increases contributed to the increases.
General Operating and Administration
Compared to 2011, general operating and administration decreased by $717,949 (17.4%) to $3.4 million. In
2011 we incurred one-time costs in the Alternative Safety Approaches program development and industry
consultation, which contributed to the increase in general operating and administration expenses in 2011.
Without those costs in 2012, and with a general curtailment of all discretionary elements in 2012, we
successfully reined in these costs, with the result being the significant decrease noted above.
Communications and Information Services
Compared to 2011, communications and information services expense decreased $146,062 (7.1%) to $1.9
million. This is largely the result of deferring web-based communication development, and a strategic shift in
raising public awareness from tradeshows and advertising to directly supporting client-focused work.
Transportation
Compared to 2011, transportation expenses decreased by $151,189 (8.2%) to $1.7 million in 2012. This was
largely due to a concerted effort to contain discretionary costs and the application of more cost effective
mechanisms for meetings, such as teleconferencing and Skype.
Corporate Governance
Corporate governance costs decreased by $31,949 (8.1%) to $362,487, the result of a reduction in the
number of Board members and the transfer of work previously performed by the Information Technology Task
Force to the Finance and Audit Committee as of April 1, 2012.

Capital Spending
During 2012, we invested $5,882,613 in property, equipment and intangibles compared to $5,756,997 in 2011.
In both years approximately 75% of this went towards our IT business system replacement project. We
implemented the first phase for certificates and licences in late 2011. The second phase, designed in 2012 and
implemented starting in April 2013, included our own customer access portal and all permitting applications for
all technologies. The balance of the capital spending went towards replenishment of our vehicle fleet for our
safety officers, tenant improvements, furniture and fixtures and major safety program development.

Reserves and Unrestricted Net Assets
BC Safety Authority’s net assets comprise its investment in property equipment and intangibles and
operating, capital, and externally restricted (education) reserves. An operating reserve was created in 2004 to
fund up to three months (25%) of the annual operating budget. This aimed to ensure our sustainability
through unforeseen economic shocks. In 2011 the Board decided that 15% would be a more appropriate
reserve. The 2012 surplus and related entries increased the operating reserve but the larger capital costs to
complete our IT business system replacement project in 2013 along with capital acquisitions in equipment
and leasehold improvements drove the year end operating reserve value down to $4,471,189, below the 15%
target. Management intends to rebuild the operating reserve to target levels.
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The capital reserve established in 2007 is fed by the operating reserve to fund long-term capital investment
projects such as the modernization of facilities and information technology systems. The education reserve
was established in 2010 in accordance with the Safety Standards Act to reserve monetary penalties we
collect for subsequent spending on accident prevention programs and safety education. To the end of 2012
there has been $60,000 collected in monetary penalty funds and no monies expended.
Unrestricted assets are assets that do not meet any of the above definitions.

TABLE 2:
2012

Investment in Property and Equipment and Intangibles
Operating Reserve – Internally Restricted
Capital Reserve – Internally Restricted
Education Reserve – Externally Restricted
Unrestricted
Total Net Assets

$

$

14,184,009
4,471,189
5,273,410
125,005
0
24,053,613

2011

$

$

10,877,657
4,760,411
8,177,950
94,890
0
23,910,908

We anticipate that the majority of the capital reserve will be used during 2013. The largest capital expenditure
planned in 2013 is the third and final year of a three-year project to replace our core software. With the
modernization of this system, we expect to increase the breadth and depth of our client self-service
capabilities and take a data-driven approach to our safety strategies. The remaining capital expenditures are
to maintain our fleet vehicles and offices to a professional and safe standard.

Risk and Uncertainty
We are susceptible to risks that, if unmitigated, could lead to significantly adverse financial and operational
consequences.
Our risk management function operates under an Enterprise Risk Management (ERM) framework that
includes regular annual reporting to the Strategic Advisory Committee of the Board of Directors. The ERM
framework brings a consistent approach to risk identification, quantification and control by taking into
account, for each risk event, the likelihood of the event, its potential impact, and the speed of its onset. We
then plan risk-mitigation processes for each event which, when successfully applied, reduce the residual risk
to the minimum likelihood and impact. The internal audit department, which reports regularly to the Finance
and Audit Committee of the Board of Directors, then carries out operational and control audits to identify
areas of risk that require more attention. They also test for compliance with agreed upon mitigation
processes.
We continuously improve our risk management system and processes. We dedicate a significant level of
competency and capacity to establishing and managing complex risk systems that identify technical areas
and strategies in need of attention. As we proceed into 2013 and beyond we will continue to improve the way
we manage risk.
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Our risk management program focuses on the following:
Strategic Risk
Strategic risk is the potential for loss or reputational damage arising from ineffective business strategies,
improper implementation of business strategies or a lack of responsiveness to changes in the business
environment. We manage this risk through periodic long-term strategic planning processes, one of which
resulted most recently in our 10-Year Strategy, which we have posted to our publically available web site at
http://www.10yearstrategy.safetyauthority.ca/. We began our journey to reach this strategic point in 2011
when we invited outside stakeholders, clients, staff and members of government to provide input to the
planning process. In 2012, with their help and after several iterations, we arrived at a final version of the plan.
We then developed our annual three-year business plan which sets forth the tactics we apply to implement
strategy. The Board of Directors reviews and approves these plans, and the general public provides input.
Our strategic measures, which we apply to test how successfully we implement our strategies and tactics,
appear in the three-year plan. We review these measures and their findings quarterly to confirm strategy or to
adjust tactics and plans.
Reputational Risk
Reputational risk is the potential that stakeholder impressions, whether true or not, regarding an institution’s
business practices, actions or inactions will or will not cause a decline in the institution’s value, capacity to
regulate effectively, or client base. Responsibility for reputational risk rests mainly with the executive team.
We take steps to ensure that every employee understands their responsibility to contribute in a positive way
to our reputation. As well, we devote considerable management attention to attracting staff with qualities and
attributes of character that reflect well on our integrity, honesty and fairness. In quarterly town-hall sessions
with all staff and their leaders, the executive focus on messaging that not only guide us strategically but also
keep us faithful to high standards of conduct. To support this, we have recently implemented a whistleblowing policy which empowers staff and the public to anonymously report possible misdoings. Our annual
personal performance plans reference obligations at all levels to individual development that supports a
strong reputation.
Revenue Risk
Revenue risk concerns the threat that the prime sources of income will shrink or wither. The economies of the
world continue to face the aftermath of the global economic collapse brought on by the banking crisis in the
US in 2007/2008. This has impacted the economy in BC for the past few years, particularly outside the Lower
Mainland and most certainly in the areas where we do most of our work. While a more stable economic
climate now presents itself to our key stakeholders, the threat of sudden and significant deterioration remains
a concern to both consumers and industry. Economic fluctuations have a significant impact on new
installation permitting activity. We earn our revenue through permitting activities. In an economic decline,
developers often substitute larger projects for smaller ones resulting in lower permitting revenues. While
permitting activity may remain relatively unchanged, the average revenue per permit may decrease. We
mitigate the impact of lost revenue due to a reduction in permitting activities through cost reduction measures
and the use of unrestricted assets and a reserve fund. We also expect to do more to ensure all work is
appropriately permitted.
Another revenue risk relates to the large volume of business that flows through, and will shift from, a thirdparty provider. In 2013 we will re-channel this client activity to our own client access portal. We expect to
increase online revenues in 2013 and our revenue risk will increase as a result of this change and the
accompanying cyber-threats that come with our own portal. We have taken steps to make the new approach
safer and a better fit with client demands.
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Investment and Liquidity Risk
Investment risk has to do with the value of the liquid assets which make up more than 50% of the assets on
our balance sheet. In 2010 we reviewed our investment policy to ensure it fit with our risk appetite and
diversification requirements. This resulted in a change of investment manager. Revenue from investments in
the short-term bond fund and the money market fund show up in the form of increases in the values of the
fund units. Fluctuations in interest rates do enhance or impair investment values. These fluctuations require
adjustments as we mark fund values to market prices. The Board of Directors is responsible for setting our
investment policy and assigns financial oversight of this to the Finance and Audit Committee. Our goal is
capital preservation, and our investments are reviewed on a quarterly basis. In 2013 we expect to re-examine
our investment policies and instruments.
Operational Risk
As a regulator, we are faced with risks associated with the quality of our services and effective administration of
the Safety Standards Act and the Railway Safety Act. Continuous training of employees, risk-based resource
allocation processes, strong governance practices, and establishment and auditing of standards, policies and
procedures are just some of the practices that enable BC Safety Authority to reduce operational risk.
We rely on accurate data from internal systems in order to optimize revenue, guide our resource allocations
and enhance safety decisions. In 2010, after completing a business system review and a rigorous due
diligence exercise, we selected partners and successfully completed a detailed feasibility study to initiate the
replacement of our core software system to support strategic and operational objectives. The project has
been approved and delivery is based upon three phases with stringent oversight and reporting structures. At
December 31, 2012 we expect to go-live with the largest phase of the project on April 15, 2013. The project
to date has cost approximately $8.7 million. By the time the scheduled work has been completed (late 2013),
it will have cost $10.9 million.
Human Capital Risk
We are exposed to risks resulting from changing demographics that may prevent us from attracting and
retaining personnel essential to meeting our business objectives. To counter this threat, the organization
develops and updates succession plans and expectations for the requisite staffing complement. Also our
personnel performance management process ensures that individual performance goals align with our overall
strategic goals and objectives. We conduct formal new employee orientation, and have an adaptable,
business-driven technical and professional training plan. We have developed several programs to attract and
retain talent, in alignment with our 10-Year Strategy. Additionally, in 2012 we signed a collective agreement
with our union staff which spans January 1, 2012 to December 31, 2014.

Accounting Standards Changes
Effective January 1, 2012, we elected to adopt Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations
(“ASNPO”) as issued by the Canadian Accounting Standards Board. The accounting policies selected under
this framework have been applied consistently and retrospectively as if these policies had always been in
effect. We have not utilized any transitional exemptions on the adoption of ASNPO. We made the following
adjustment on transition to ASNPO:
a) The deficiency of revenues over expenses for the year ended December 31, 2011 decreased by $62,194
to reflect the change in fair value of investments. Prior to the transition, changes in the fair value of these
investments were recorded in the statement of changes in net assets. This change has no impact on the
statement of financial position.
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The transition from Canadian generally accepted accounting principles to ASNPO had no significant impact
on cash flows.

Outlook
Prudent Financial Management for Challenging Times
Our immediate task is to implement our new information technology. It provides the platform for the
management of most of what we do – offering exams to candidates, the issuance of certificates and licences,
and permits for both the installation and operation of technical equipment. Much of this we offered online,
from April 15, 2013, through our own client access portal called “MyConnection”. Making this transition to
the new system represents the biggest challenge we have faced for some time. We believe we have taken
significant steps to offer our clients a smooth and hassle-free client experience from the start. This effort
requires investment and we have bolstered resources by approximately 6%, or 17 full time employees, to
provide the attention to client needs over start-up and in transition. Our call center will receive half of these
resources and other staff will commit more overtime to fulfilling duties and providing back-up associated with
converting to the new system. The consequence is a significant deficit in 2013.
Looking farther ahead we expect to return closer to a positive bottom line in 2014, partly because we have
committed to bringing staffing levels in 2014 back down to 2012 levels. Overarching this, approved fee
increases will come into effect at the start of both 2013 and 2014.
The table below shows the details for 2013. Refer also to our 2013-15 Business Plan for the outlook for 2014
and 2015. Both years show us achieving a better balance between costs and revenues.
There are numerous factors, some beyond our control, which could cause results to vary from expectations.
Key risks to the budget include the predicted strength of the provincial economic recovery and the
management of the costs of modernizing our software system. All forward-looking statements within this
report should be understood to involve risks and uncertainties that could cause actual financial or operating
results to differ significantly.

TABLE 3: PROJECTED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS
2012
ACTUAL
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Revenue
Services and Related Fees
Interest and other Income
Total Revenue

$

39,801,028
630,186
40,431,214

$

42,259,000
400,000
42,659,000

Expenditures
Excess (Deficiency) of Revenue over Expenditures

$

40,288,509
142,705

$

44,651,000
(1,992,000)

Capital Spending

$

5,882,613

$

5,273,000
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Managing Revenues
For 2013, we are anticipating service fee revenues of $42.3 million. This reflects the full effect of the 3%
increase in late 2012, along with the 3% increase January 1, 2013, plus some small market improvement. So
we expect 2013 service fee revenues to be 6.2% higher than 2012. Investment and other income will fall slightly.
Managing Operating Expenses
We make every effort to deliver necessary safety programs as efficiently and cost effectively as possible. In 2012
management lowered costs while investing in prevention through education and enforcement activity. For the first
time we brought costs down to a level lower than the previous year. In 2013 we have committed to a sensible
investment for conversion to our new system and to temporary operating cost increases that accompany that
conversion. We anticipate that our operating expenses for 2013 will increase 10.8% or $4.4 million to $44.7
million. Of this, $900,000 stems from an increase in depreciation and amortization of our new software, with the
rest coming from the 6% increase in our full time employee levels. Other added one-time costs in 2013 include
severance arrangements regarding our former core systems vendor, and studies to improve our RAP system and
guide us into business models that fit better with the offerings of our new technology.
In 2014 we plan to bring full time employee levels back to 2012 levels and costs slightly below 2013
spending.
Investing in Infrastructure
For 2013, we have budgeted $5.3 million in capital expenditures, of which $2.5 million relates to information
technology software. The remainder commits to hardware upgrades, increases in the vehicle fleet and
changes to office facilities that fit the switch to more of an online presence, more collaboration with clients
and office consolidation.

Conclusion
In 2012 we performed better than expected and we maintained our financial position. Despite the turbulent
economic conditions, we were within 1% of planned revenues from activities, and managed to contain
expenses to slightly less than the year before. This resulted in a net surplus of $143,000; a $500,000
improvement over our budgeted deficit of $389,000.
We demonstrated a capacity not only to control costs but also to take command of revenue generation either
through new initiatives such as Alternative Safety Approaches or through enforcement of unpermitted work.
We expect to extend these initiatives into 2013 and beyond in the interests of safety.
We are committed to increasing the level of participation in the provincial safety system through a renewed
concentration on our enforcement strategy and by increasing our education and public safety campaigns. In
2013 we will continue to support many important safety initiatives and invest in the long-term sustainability of
our role in the safety system.

Disclosure
Throughout this Management Discussion and Analysis we have presented forward-looking information based
on assumptions and numerous factors beyond our control that could cause results to differ from
expectations. All forward-looking statements within this report should be understood to involve risks or
uncertainties that could cause actual financial or operating results to differ significantly. We caution that
readers of the Management Discussion and Analysis should not place reliance on any forward-looking
information included in this section.
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April 18, 2013

Independent Auditor’s Report
To the Board of Directors of
British Columbia Safety Authority
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of British Columbia Safety Authority, which
comprise the statements of financial position as at December 31, 2012, December 31, 2011 and January 1,
2011 and the statements of changes in net assets, operations and cash flows for the years ended December
31, 2012 and December 31, 2011, and the related notes, which comprise a summary of significant
accounting policies and other explanatory information.
Management’s responsibility for the financial statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations, and for such internal
control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
Auditor’s responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We
conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards
require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall presentation of the financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our audit opinion.
Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
British Columbia Safety Authority as at December 31, 2012, December 31, 2011 and January 1, 2011 and
the results of its operations and its cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2012 and December 31,
2011 in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations.

Chartered Accountants
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, Chartered Accountants
PricewaterhouseCoopers Place, 250 Howe Street, Suite 700, Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada V6C 3S7
T: +1 604 806 7000, F: +1 604 806 7806
“PwC” refers to PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an Ontario limited liability partnership.
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Statements of Financial Position

ASSETS
Current assets
Cash
Accounts receivable (note 5)
Prepaid expenses
Investments (note 4)
Long-term investments (note 4)
Intangible assets (note 6)
Property and equipment (note 7)

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Payables and accruals (note 8)
Deferred revenue
Accrued employee future benefits (note 9)
Deferred leasehold inducements (note 10)

NET ASSETS
Investment in property, equipment and intangibles
Externally restricted
Capital reserve
Operating reserve

DECEMBER 31, 2012

DECEMBER 31, 2011

JANUARY 1, 2011

$

$

$

3,553,831
1,885,554
655,309
5,273,000
11,367,694
20,752,089
8,771,555
5,412,454

3,125,285
1,122,101
543,766
7,849,000
12,640,152
20,679,650
4,586,245
6,291,412

6,280,508
1,238,183
610,600
28,621,224
36,750,515
1,096,461
6,669,190

46,303,792

44,197,459

44,516,166

10,252,801
10,822,264
21,075,065
487,088
688,026

8,523,595
10,426,626
18,950,221
551,468
784,862

8,057,605
10,197,013
18,254,618
508,047
873,848

22,250,179

20,286,551

19,636,513

14,184,009
125,005
5,273,410
4,471,189

10,877,657
94,890
8,177,950
4,760,411

7,733,233
59,900
6,000,000
11,086,520

24,053,613

23,910,908

24,879,653

46,303,792

44,197,459

44,516,166

Commitments (note 11)
Contingencies (note 12)

Approved by the Board of Directors

Director
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Director

Statements of Changes in Net Assets
For the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011

INVESTMENT
IN PROPERTY,
EQUIPMENT
& INTANGIBLES
$

Net assets – January 1, 2011

EXTERNALLY
RESTRICTED
$

CAPITAL
RESERVE
$

OPERATING
RESERVE
$

TOTAL
$

(fiscal 2011 restated)

(fiscal 2011 restated)

7,733,233

59,900

-

-

-

(936,335)

(936,335)

Amortization of property, equipment
and intangibles

(2,612,573)

-

-

2,612,573

-

Investment in property, equipment
and intangibles - net

5,756,997

-

(3,678,050) (2,078,947)

-

Reduction in education reserve for accident
prevention and safety education programs

-

(32,410)

-

-

(32,410)

Increase in education reserve from
monetary penalties

-

67,400

-

(67,400)

-

Increase in capital reserve

-

-

5,856,000

(5,856,000)

-

Net assets - December 31, 2011

10,877,657

94,890

8,177,950

4,760,411 23,910,908

Excess of revenue over expenses

-

-

-

142,705

142,705

Amortization of property, equipment
and intangibles

(2,576,261)

-

-

2,576,261

-

Investment in property, equipment
and intangibles - net

5,882,613

-

(5,889,062)

6,449

-

Increase in education reserve from
monetary penalties

-

30,115

-

(30,115)

-

Increase in capital reserve

-

-

2,984,522

(2,984,522)

-

14,184,009

125,005

5,273,410

4,471,189 24,053,613

Deficiency of revenue over expenses

Net assets - December 31, 2012

6,000,000 11,086,520 24,879,653

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Statements of Operations
For the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011

2012
$

2011
$
(Restated)

Revenue
Services and related fees
Investment and other income (note 13)

Expenses
Salaries and benefits
General, operating and administration
Amortization of property, equipment and intangibles
Building occupancy
Communications and information services
Transportation
Corporate governance

Excess (deficiency) of revenue over expenses

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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39,801,028
630,186

38,404,641
1,010,415

40,431,214

39,415,056

27,933,517
3,397,450
2,576,261
2,413,839
1,915,632
1,689,323
362,487

27,013,580
4,115,399
2,612,573
2,313,197
2,061,694
1,840,512
394,436

40,288,509

40,351,391

142,705

(936,335)

Statements of Cash Flows
For the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011

2012
$

2011
$
(Restated)

CASH FLOWS PROVIDED BY (USED IN)
Operating activities
Excess (deficiency) of revenue over expenses
Adjustments to determine cash flows
Amortization of deferred leasehold inducements
Amortization of property, equipment and intangibles
Change in unrealized loss (gain) on investments
Gain on disposal of property and equipment
Education reserve expenses
Change in accrued employee future benefits
Change in non-cash working capital accounts (note 14)

142,705

(936,335)

(112,426)
2,576,261
203,561
(77,495)
(64,380)
1,249,848

(105,921)
2,612,573
(62,194)
(37,922)
(32,410)
43,421
878,519

3,918,074

2,359,731

15,590

16,935

(1,347,509)
83,944
(4,541,553)
(700,000)
3,000,000

(1,919,197)
57,957
(3,825,417)
(845,232)
1,000,000

(3,505,118)

(5,531,889)

428,546

(3,155,223)

Cash - Beginning of year

3,125,285

6,280,508

Cash - End of year

3,553,831

3,125,285

Financing activities
Leasehold inducements received
Investing activities
Purchase of property and equipment
Proceeds from disposal of property and equipment
Investment in intangible assets
Interest on investments re-invested
Proceeds on sale of investments

Increase (decrease) in cash

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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1

Operations
British Columbia Safety Authority (“BCSA”) is a not-for-profit organization incorporated through the
Safety Authority Act. BCSA administers the service delivery components of the Safety Standards Act
delegated to it by the Province of British Columbia. The delegation of authority is based on an
Administrative Agreement between the Province of British Columbia and BCSA. The Administrative
Agreement establishes the rights and responsibilities and terms and conditions of both parties.
BCSA delivers services in British Columbia by partnering with business, industry and the general public
to enhance the safety of technical systems, products, equipment and work. BCSA is responsible for
overseeing the safety of amusement rides and recreational railways, boilers, pressure vessel and
refrigeration systems, electrical equipment and systems, elevating devices, gas appliances and
systems, passenger ropeways, and railways.

2

Basis of preparation and adoption of accounting standards for
not-for-profit organizations
Effective January 1, 2012, BCSA elected to adopt Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit
organizations (“ASNPO”) as issued by the Canadian Accounting Standards Board. The accounting
policies selected under this framework have been applied consistently and retrospectively as if these
policies had always been in effect. BCSA has not utilized any transitional exemptions on the adoption
of ASNPO. The following adjustment was made by BCSA on transition to ASNPO:
a)

The deficiency of revenue over expenses for the year ended December 31, 2011 decreased by
$62,194 to reflect the change in fair value of investments. Prior to the transition, changes in the fair
value of these investments were recorded in the statement of changes in net assets. This change
has no impact to the statements of financial position.

$

Deficiency of revenue over expenses for the year ended
December 31, 2011, as previously reported
Unrealized gains on investments previously recorded as an
adjustment to net assets
Deficiency of revenue over expenses for the year ended
December 31, 2011 under ASNPO

(998,529)

62,194

(936,335)

The transition from Canadian generally accepted accounting principles to ASNPO had no significant
impact on cash flows generated by BCSA.
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3

Summary of significant accounting policies
Use of estimates
The presentation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent liabilities at the
date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the year. In
particular, management makes estimates to determine the percentage of completion on revenue and
accrued employee future benefits at the end of the year. Actual results could differ from those
estimates.
Financial instruments
All financial instruments are classified into one of four categories: held-for-trading, held-to-maturity
investments, loans and receivables, or other financial liabilities. All financial instruments are initially
measured in the statements of financial position at fair value. Loans and receivables, held-to-maturity
investments and other financial liabilities are then carried at amortized cost. Held-for-trading financial
assets are carried at fair value and changes in fair value are recognized within the statements
of operations.
Net assets
a) Investment in property, equipment and intangible assets
Net assets invested in property and equipment and intangible assets represent the amount of net
assets that are not available for other purposes because they have been invested in long-term assets.
b)

Externally restricted net assets
In accordance with the Safety Standards Act, the education reserve was established in 2010 to
reserve monetary penalties collected by BCSA to be expended on accident prevention and safety
education programs.

c)

Capital reserve
The capital reserve was established by the Board of Directors in 2007 to fund long-term capital
investment projects, such as the modernization of facilities and information technology systems.
For 2012, the capital reserve includes the funding requirement for all 2013 capital investments,
including the investment toward the modernization of the information technology systems.

d)

Operating reserve
The operating reserve represents the accumulated unrestricted surplus of BCSA. In 2004, the
Board of Directors agreed to an operating reserve target equal to three months of the annual
operating budget to ensure the sustainability of BCSA through unforeseen economic events. In
2011, this reserve target was adjusted to fund up to 15% of the annual operating budget, which
for 2013 would be approximately $6.7 million.

Intangible assets
BCSA customizes third-party software for internal use. Direct costs attributable to new customizations
or significant modifications to previous customizations are capitalized after technological feasibility has
been established. Direct costs attributable to minor modifications of previous customizations are
expensed. Costs to support or service internally customized third-party software are expensed in the
period incurred. All software is recorded at cost and amortized using the straight-line method over the
estimated useful life of the asset (3 to 7 years).
Direct costs attributable to major safety program development are capitalized. The useful life estimate
will be determined as the project nears completion.
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Property and equipment
Property and equipment are recorded at cost. Leases that transfer substantially all the benefits and
risks of ownership are capitalized. Amortization of property and equipment commences when it is
brought into service and is provided on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the
assets at the following annual rates:

Computer hardware
Software systems integral to hardware operations
Vehicles
Furniture and equipment
Leasehold improvements

3 to 5 years
3 years
5 years
5 years
term of the lease

Investments
Investments are classified as held-for-trading and carried at fair value based on published quoted
prices at yearend. All investments are held in pooled funds.
Short-term investments include those investments which BSCA intends to hold for capital projects in
the next fiscal year. Investments that are expected to be realized beyond the next fiscal year are
classified as long-term.
Deferred leasehold inducements
Deferred leasehold inducements include amounts received in lease agreements related to leasehold
improvements. Amortization of deferred leasehold inducements is recognized over the length of the
lease on a straight-line basis.
Revenue recognition
Where the fee covers a specific period, revenues are recognized evenly over that period. Where the fee
does not cover a specific period and is earned over a period of time, estimates are used to determine
the period over which revenue is recognized, based on past history. In both cases, unearned fees are
recorded as deferred revenue. All other revenues are recorded when services are performed.
Restricted contributions (i.e. education revenue from monetary penalties) are accounted for using the
restricted fund method.
Employee benefit plans
Public Service Pension Plan
BCSA and its employees contribute to the Public Service Pension Plan, a jointly trusteed pension plan.
The board of trustees, representing plan members and employers, is responsible for overseeing the
management of the pension plan, including asset investment and plan administration. The pension
plan is a multi-employer contributory defined benefit pension plan with over 56,000 active members,
39,000 retired members and 15,000 inactive members, as at March 31, 2012.
Every three years, an actuarial valuation is performed to assess the financial health of the plan and the
adequacy of the contribution rate for funding the plan. The latest valuation as at March 31, 2011
indicated a $275 million unfunded liability. The actuary does not attribute portions of the liability to
individual employers. In order to fund the liability, the contribution rates of members and employers
were increased by 0.40% of salary effective April 1, 2012. Employers currently contribute between
9.43% and 10.93% of salaries.
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The plan is accounted for on the defined contribution basis, as it is not possible to separately identify
the assets and liabilities of the pension plan that relate to BCSA.
Defined Supplemental Retirement Benefit Plan
Under the collective agreement and terms of employment, BCSA accrues a provision for a defined
supplemental retirement benefit plan as employees render the services required to earn that benefit.
BCSA accrues the cost of these employee future benefits over the periods in which the employees
earn the benefit. The cost of employee future benefits is actuarially determined using the projected
benefit method pro-rated on service and includes, but is not limited to, management estimates of
salary increases, the retirement age of employees, and other actuarial factors. The discount rate used
is based on market rates as at the measurement date. Past service costs from plan amendments are
deferred and amortized on a straight-line basis over the expected remaining service life of the
employee group. Actuarial gains (losses) arise from changes in actuarial assumptions used to
determine the accrued benefit obligation. Net actuarial gains or losses that exceed 10% of the accrued
benefit obligation are amortized on a straight-line basis over the expected remaining service life of the
employee group.
The latest valuation was at December 31, 2010. Information related to this plan is provided in note 9.
Taxes
BCSA is a “tax exempt” organization as described in the Income Tax Act and, as such, is exempt from
federal and provincial income taxes. The provision of permitting and licensing services is an exempt
supply under the Excise Tax Act for HST purposes. Other services provided are subject to HST.

4

Investments
Investments are currently managed by a third party investment manager and are held in short-term
money market and short-term bond funds. BCSA has decided to present as current assets only those
investments that may be needed to fund capital projects in the coming year. The balance is shown as
long-term.

Money market fund
Bond fund

Current portion
Long-term portion

COST

2012
FAIR VALUE

COST

2011
FAIR VALUE

$

$

$

$

4,136,480
22,053,820
26,190,300

4,136,480
21,888,609
26,025,089

7,082,567
21,407,733
28,490,300

7,082,567
21,446,083
28,528,650

2012

2011

$

$

5,273,000
20,752,089
26,025,089

7,849,000
20,679,650
28,528,650
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5

Financial instruments
BCSA classifies its financial instruments as follows: (i) cash as loans and receivables (measured at
amortized cost); (ii) accounts receivable as loans and receivables (measured at amortized cost); (iii)
investments as held-for-trading (measured at fair value); and (iv) payables and accruals as other
liabilities (measured at amortized cost).
The carrying value of accounts receivable and payable approximates fair value as at December 31,
2012 and 2011.
BCSA classifies financial instruments measured at fair value into one of three levels of a fair value
hierarchy according to the relative reliability of the inputs used to estimate the fair values: Level 1 quoted prices in active markets; Level 2 - measurements determined using valuation models that
employ observable inputs; and Level 3 - measurements determined using valuation models that
employ unobservable inputs. All financial instruments held by BCSA at December 31, 2012 are
considered Level 2 (2011 - Level 2).
Financial instruments risk, exposure and management
BCSA has exposure to the following risks from its financial instruments: credit risk, market risk, interest
rate risk, and liquidity risk.
a)

Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of loss resulting from the failure of a customer to honour its financial
obligations. The only financial instrument that potentially subjects BCSA to concentrations of
credit risk is its accounts receivable. Provisions for doubtful accounts are made at a minimum for
all trade accounts receivable over 120 days and for a percentage of monetary penalties. The
maximum exposure to credit risk in terms of accounts receivable in 2012 and 2011 was as follows:

Trade and other receivables
Allowance for doubtful accounts

2012
$

2011
$

2,164,703
(279,149)
1,885,554

1,516,353
(394,252)
1,122,101

The aging of accounts receivable as at December 31, 2012 and 2011 was as follows:

Current
Past due (31 - 60 days)
Past due (61 - 90 days)
Past due (91 - 120 days)
Past due greater than 120 days
Trade and other receivables
Allowance for doubtful accounts
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2012
$

2011
$

1,072,323
555,907
172,713
54,940
308,820
2,164,703
(279,149)
1,885,554

666,367
261,152
138,192
61,015
389,627
1,516,353
(394,252)
1,122,101

6

b)

Market risk
Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market prices. Fair value risk is the potential for loss from an adverse
movement in the value of a financial instrument. BCSA is exposed to fair value risk on its
investments held. If bond fund unit prices increased or decreased by 10% with all other factors
remaining constant, the excess/deficiency of revenue over expenses would have increased or
decreased by approximately $2,189,000. BCSA is not significantly exposed to foreign currency
risk or other price risk.

c)

Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that BCSA’s investments will change in fair value due to future
fluctuations in market interest rates. The risk arises primarily on interest-bearing financial
instruments held in pooled money market and bond funds.

d)

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that BCSA will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due.
BCSA’s approach to managing liquidity risk is to ensure that it will have sufficient working capital
and cash flow generated from operations to fund the operations and settle debt and liabilities
when due. BCSA also maintains an operating reserve to mitigate this risk (note 3). Contractual
obligations and payments related to financial liabilities as at December 31, 2012 are all expected
to be paid by December 31, 2013.

Intangible assets
2012

Software systems under development
Software systems
Safety program costs under development

COST

ACCUMULATED
AMORTIZATION

NET

$

$

$

8,110,103
7,292,355
147,820
15,550,278

6,778,723
6,778,723

8,110,103
513,632
147,820
8,771,555

COST

ACCUMULATED
AMORTIZATION

NET

$

$

$

4,135,011
6,731,202
142,511
11,008,724

6,422,479
6,422,479

4,135,011
308,723
142,511
4,586,245

2011

Software systems under development
Software systems
Safety program costs under development
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7

Property and equipment
2012

Computer hardware
Software systems integral to hardware
operations
Vehicles
Furniture and equipment
Leasehold improvements

COST

ACCUMULATED
AMORTIZATION

NET

$

$

$

3,559,529

2,491,582

1,067,947

418,135
4,074,402
1,921,696
5,210,462
15,184,224

344,639
3,039,779
1,196,804
2,698,966
9,771,770

73,496
1,034,623
724,892
2,511,496
5,412,454

COST

ACCUMULATED
AMORTIZATION

NET

$

$

$

3,094,984

2,140,592

954,392

352,615
4,059,371
1,730,071
5,044,817
14,281,858

338,889
2,728,170
861,330
1,921,465
7,990,446

13,726
1,331,201
868,741
3,123,352
6,291,412

2011

Computer hardware
Software systems integral to hardware
operations
Vehicles
Furniture and equipment
Leasehold improvements

8

Government remittances
Government remittances consist of amounts (such as sales taxes, Board of Directors’ and employee
payroll withholdings, employee benefit costs, worker’s compensation premiums, etc.) required to be
paid to government authorities and are recognized when the amounts become due. At December 31,
2012, $140,055 (2011 - $64,884) is included within payables and accruals.

9

Accrued employee future benefits
BCSA accrues a provision for a defined supplemental retirement benefit plan.
a)

Changes in the accrued employee future benefits

Accrued benefit obligation
Unamortized net actuarial loss
Accrued employee future benefits
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2012
$

2011
$

709,804
(222,716)
487,088

682,584
(131,116)
551,468

b)

Components of supplemental retirement benefit plan expense

Current service cost
Interest cost
Amortization of net actuarial loss
Retirement benefit plan expense

2012
$

2011
$

45,241
27,021
6,286
78,548

39,681
31,796
10,976
82,453

The significant actuarial assumptions adopted in measuring BCSA’s accrued benefit obligations
are as follows:

Discount rate
Rate of compensation increase

2012
$

2011
$

3.40%
3.20%

3.90%
3.20%

The accrued benefit obligation is not funded as funding is provided when benefits are paid.
Accordingly, there are no plan assets.
c)

Contributions to the Public Service Pension Plan and the defined supplemental retirement benefit
plan expense accrual during the year were $2,071,542 (2011 - $1,998,571).

10 Deferred leasehold inducements

Deferred leasehold inducements - Beginning of year
Add: Inducements received during the year
Less: Amortization to rent expense
Deferred leasehold inducements - End of year

2012
$

2011
$

784,862
15,590
(112,426)
688,026

873,848
16,935
(105,921)
784,862
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11 Commitments
BCSA leases office space with future minimum annual payments over the next five years, estimated as
follows:

$

2013
2014
2015
2016
2017

1,317,024
1,112,817
1,013,970
925,066
860,036
5,228,913

12 Contingencies
In the ordinary course of operations, BCSA may be contingently liable for litigation and claims with
customers, suppliers and employees. Specific claims have been brought against BCSA, the outcome
of which is indeterminable at this time. Liabilities on any litigation are recognized in the financial
statements when the outcome becomes reasonably determinable. In management’s judgment, no
material exposure exists at this time on the eventual settlement of any existing litigation. Liabilities of
$nil have been recognized in the financial statements at December 31, 2012 (2011 - $16,800).

13 Investment and other income

Investment income
Change in unrealized (loss) gain on investments
Gain on disposal of property and equipment
Monetary penalties issued

66

British Columbia Safety Authority | Annual Report 2012

2012
$

2011
$

737,252
(203,561)
533,691
77,495
19,000
630,186

911,499
62,194
973,693
37,922
(1,200)
1,010,415

14 Change in non-cash working capital accounts

Accounts receivable
Prepaid expenses
Payables and accruals
Deferred revenue

2012
$

2011
$

(763,453)
(111,543)
1,729,206
395,638
1,249,848

116,082
66,834
465,990
229,613
878,519
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Committees

Committees of the Board
Finance and Audit Committee
Donald Young – Chair (April 1, 2011 – March 31, 2012)
Hugh Gordon – Chair (Appointed April 1, 2012)
Richard Ballantyne
Hoss Budde
Steve Lornie
Dan Mott
Janet Pau
John Watson (Retired March 31, 2012)
Peter Cook, Ex officio
Catherine Roome, Ex officio
Governance and Human Resources Committee
Dan Miller – Chair
Hoss Budde
Brian Fehr
Dan Mott
Jo-Ann Panneton
Janet Pau
John Watson (Retired March 31, 2012)
Peter Cook, Ex officio
Catherine Roome, Ex officio
Strategic Advisory Committee
Lorna Pawluk – Chair (April 1, 2010 – March 31, 2012)
Richard Ballantyne – Chair (appointed April 1, 2012)
Brian Fehr
Steve Lornie
Dan Mott
Alison Narod
Janet Pau
Peter Cook, Ex officio
Catherine Roome, Ex officio
Information Technology Task Force
Richard Ballantyne – Chair
John Watson (Retired March 31, 2012)
Donald Young (Retired March 31, 2012)
Peter Cook, Ex officio
Catherine Roome, Ex officio

2012 Stakeholder Engagement
Program Initiatives
In addition to the standing engagement practices of
the various Technology Advisory Committees and the
Safety Standards Administrators’ Group (delegated
local governments for electrical and gas), the
Stakeholder Engagement Programs were involved in
the following major initiatives:
• Finalization of the 2012-2014 fee consultation for
electrical, elevating devices, gas and boilers,
pressure vessels and refrigeration safety programs
• Fee structure consultation for electrical and
elevating devices safety programs
• Railway safety program fee consultation
• Canadian Electrical Code 2012 adoption
consultation
• Implementation of STAR’s stakeholder
communications & contact plan
• CSA B355-09 Code (restricted access to elevators
for people with physical disabilities) adoption
consultation
• Consultation on the draft Directive on Application
Requirements for a Third Class Power Engineer’s
Certificate of Qualifications
• Consultation on recognition of training for limited
scope electrical workers
• Consult with industry association representatives
on safety requirements for greenhouse facility
operators
• Consult with industry association representatives
on electrical safety code requirements for imported
recreational vehicles
• BC Safety Authority’s Complaints, Compliments
and Suggestions program revision
• BC Safety Authority’s certificates, wallet cards and
contractor licences appearance revision
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Committees (continued)

Technology Advisory
Committee Members
Amusement Devices Technology Advisory
Committee
Shawn Joinson
Robert Kemp
Scott McQueen
Brent MacDonald
Chris Steunenberg
NOTE: These stakeholders met in November 2012 to discuss the
future structure of the Amusement Devices Technology Advisory
Committee.

Boiler Technology Advisory Committee
Bob Norton – Chair
Sanja Boskovic – Co-Chair
Derek Belton
Wayne Borrowman
Terry Connors
Ed Florencio
Rinus Jellema
Bert Johnson
John Martin
Richard Michael
Electrical Technology Advisory Committee
Harry Van Beest – Chair
Bill Strain – Co-Chair
Ben Barker (to April 2012)
Steve Dyck
Lawrence Gibson (November 2012 to present)
Nathan Gurvich
Mark Kelvin
Alain Lavoie (November 2012 to present)
Nick Leforte
Deanna Littlejohn
Eddie Low
Jim Mummery
Seth Nair
Elevating Devices Technology Committee
Corrie Archer – Chair
Ray DeMeyer – Co-Chair
Mike Funk
Rob Houston
Teddy Lai
Randy Martin
Louie Rapos
Mark Townsend
Bunny Wortman
Gas Technology Advisory Committee
Dan Bradley – Chair
Brian Sweet – Co-Chair
Bob Bush
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Ian Chang
Russ Johnson
Byron Rilling
Darrick Tisseur
Trevor Todd
Ian Turnbull
Phil Wynne
Passenger Ropeways Technology Advisory
Committee
Wayne Wiltse – Chair
Bruno Mannsberger – Co-Chair
Pat Boyle
Arnie Budd
Danny Cox
Sue Dixon
Warren Sparks
George Trousdell

Working Groups
Although several Working Groups were in planning
stages throughout the year, listed below are Working
Groups that made progress in 2012.
Electrical
Review of Electrical Safety Regulation Section 18
Seth Nair
Ivan Pye
Stray Voltage Mitigation for Farms with Livestock
Ulrich Janisch
Fred Kaempffer
Mark Kelvin
David Rogers
Lockout and Worker Safety
Lawrence Gibson
Bruce Holliday
Deanna Littlejohn
Jim Mummery
Seth Nair
Ted Pennell
Bill Strain
Gas
Directive D-G5 070330 4 revision
Derek Belton
Barry Cavens
Pat Miller
Trevor Todd
Ian Turnbull
Eric Scott
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